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Area Summary observations
Where are we 
now?

■ We are pleased to have the opportunity to discuss the results of our audit of the financial statements of 
WiseAlpha Public Limited Company (the “Company”), as at and for the period ended 31 December 2019.

■ There have been no significant changes to our audit plan and strategy.

■ Our audit is complete subject to the following:

– Resolution of routine audit queries;

– Approval of financial statements by the Board of Directors; and

– Receipt of the signed representation letter.

■ It is our intention to issue an unqualified audit opinion on the financial statements subject to satisfactory 
resolution of the above items.

Audit status

Audit findings  WiseAlpha Public Limited Company
For the period from 22 May 2019 to 31 December 2019

Reporting on significant audit risks

Area KPMG audit approach and commentary
Management 
override of 
controls

■ We have considered the potential risk of management override of controls relevant to the 
Company’s financial statements and noted no issues or control  deficiencies that we would like to bring to 
your attention.

■ The potential risk of management override of controls is reduced by the segregation of duties between IQ EQ 
Corporate Services (Ireland) Limited (the “Administrator”), Global Prime Partners Limited (the “Custodian”), 
WiseAlpha Technologies Limited (the “Investment Advisor”) and other service providers.

■ We considered the risk of management override of controls and addressed the risk by completing the 
following procedures:

 We reviewed the minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors of the Company during the period for 
details of any unusual matters.

 We evaluated the business rationale for significant unusual transactions.

 We performed enquiries with the Administrator.

 We tested journal entries which we considered to be high risk and other material adjustments.

■ Based on our procedures, we did not identify any significant indications of management bias. 

Reporting on audit risks

Reporting on other audit risks

Balance GBP
Area FY19 KPMG audit approach and commentary
Valuation and 
ownership of
investments at 
fair value through 
profit or loss 
(FVTPL)

24,203,418 ■ We engaged our internal valuations team, KPMG Financial Instruments (“KFI”), to 
assist us with our period end valuation procedures. They performed a valuation of 
the portfolio of investments held as at 31 December 2019;

■ We noted a difference with regards to the fair value of the portfolio of investments. 
See page 3 for further details;

■ We reviewed the disclosure of investments in accordance with the fair value 
hierarchy as set out in IFRS. We noted no significant differences in the levelling of 
financial assets at fair value; and

■ We obtained an independent confirmation from the Custodian, in relation to financial 
assets in place as at the period end and reconciled it to the Company’s records. 

■ Aside from the difference as noted above, there were no other issues noted during 
the course of our audit that we would like to bring to your attention.
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Audit findings  
Reporting on audit risks (continued)
Reporting on other audit risks

Balance GBP
Area FY19 KPMG audit approach and commentary
Transfer of securities 
between related 
parties

21,225,049 ■ We noted that as per the Deed of Substitution dated 29 October 2019 between the 
Company and WiseAlpha Limited (the “Original Issuer”), the Company assumed all 
the rights and obligations of the Original Issuer as the principal debtor of the notes 
issued. This in effect attributed to a non-cash transfer of investments and notes 
amounting to £21m to the Company.

■ We obtained the letter issued by the Custodian, in relation to financial assets held by 
the Original Issuer as at the date the substitution effective date, and reconciled it to 
the Company’s records.

■ We have engaged our internal valuations team to perform independent valuations 
testing of the investments transferred as at the substitution effective date, and 
compared it to the value as per the Company’s records.

■ We noted a difference amounting to £46k in the fair value of the investments 
transferred which in the context of the portfolio transferred represents 0.21%; on that 
basis we are satisfied that this represents the fair value of the portfolio transferred. 
The net effect to the financial statements is nil as the payments made to the 
noteholders are related to the performance of the underlying investments. 

Cash and cash 
equivalents

181,981 ■ We obtained independent confirmation from the Custodian for cash amounts held 
at the period end date. These were then compared to the cash balances per the 
Administrator.

■ We noted a difference in the cash balance as per the confirmation received from 
the Custodian and the balance as per the Administrator. See page 3 for further 
details.

■ No material differences or issues were noted which we would like to bring to your 
attention.

Valuation of fractional 
bonds (notes at 
FVTPL)

24,203,418 ■ We obtained independent confirmation from IQ EQ (Isle of Man) Limited (the 
“Fiscal Agent”) of the fractional bonds issued by the Company as at 31 December 
2019. 

■ We reconciled the confirmations received to the records per the Administrator. 
The difference noted in the portfolio of investments also impacted the fair value 
of the notes. See page 3 for further details;

■ No other material differences or issues were noted which we would like to bring to 
your attention

Net gain on 
investments at FVTPL

1,035,698 ■ We performed a recalculation of coupon income based on the information 
contained in the investor reports and agreed the receipts to the bank statements.

■ We recalculated the net gain on financial assets at FVTPL through reconciling 
the opening and closing fair value movements, taking into account any 
disposals.

■ No material differences or issues were noted which we would like to bring to your 
attention.

Net loss on notes at 
FVTPL

(1,035,698) ■ We analysed the movement in notes issued, taking into account any fair value 
movements and the coupon accrued.

■ We agreed the coupon payments made to the bank statements.

■ There were no material differences noted during the course of the audit that we 
would like to bring to your attention.

Tax (42) ■ We engaged our internal tax specialist team, to assist us with our review of tax for 
the period from 22 May 2019 to 31 December 2019.

■ There were no material issues noted during the course of our audit that we would 
like to bring to your attention.

WiseAlpha Public Limited Company
For the period from 22 May 2019 to 31 December 2019



3© 2020 KPMG, an Irish partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with 
KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved. Printed in Ireland

Audit findings  

Levelling of investments
The disclosures in the financial statements categorise 
investments as:

■ Level 1 – represents exit values for the same 
investment in active markets, e.g. traded prices.

■ Level 2 – represents exit values for similar 
investments in active markets where all inputs into 
the valuation are observable, e.g. price of underlying 
investment index.

■ Level 3 – represents fair value when some of the 
inputs are unobservable.

Levelling of investments

£ millions Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Investments at FVTPL - 24 -
Notes at FVTPL - 24 -

Audit differences

WiseAlpha Public Limited Company
For the period from 22 May 2019 to 31 December 2019

Internal control observations
Area
Controls testing ■ We noted that the Company uses the services of IQ EQ Corporate Services (Ireland) Limited as Administrator.

■ We held a discussion with representatives from the Investment Advisor in order to gain an understanding of the 
design and implementation of the valuation of investments process.

■ KPMG held a discussion with representatives from the Administrator in order to gain an understanding of the 
design and implementation of the financial reporting processes.

■ We did not come across any significant control deficiencies during the course of our audit.

Audit differences (£)

Description
Profit and loss Balance sheet
DR CR DR CR

Corrected audit difference

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables
To adjust for an unsettled trade of a purchase of an investment

45,075
45,075

TOTAL 45,075 45,075
Disclosure Omissions
There were no disclosure omissions noted.

Uncorrected audit differences

Net gain on investments at FVTPL 58,541
Investments at FVTPL
To adjust for the difference in fair value of the investments

58,541

Notes at FVTPL
Net loss on notes at FVTPL
To adjust for the difference in fair value of the fractional bonds issued

58,541
58,541

TOTAL 58,541 58,541 58,541 58,541
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Other audit matters
Area KPMG commentary KPMG approach and observation
Litigation 
and claims

■ Auditing Standards require us to obtain confirmation 
from the Directors that they are not aware of any 
material instances of litigation or claims against the 
Company.

■ During the course of our audit work, we have not noted any 
litigation or claims which could have a material impact on the 
2019 financial statements.

Subsequent 
events

■ Accounting and auditing standards require 
consideration of all events up to the date of approval 
of the financial statements (and beyond in certain 
circumstances) in case they impact on the financial 
statements, either by way of adjustment or 
disclosure.

■ Since the end of the reporting period, global financial 
markets have been effected by the outbreak of the COVID-
19 virus. The pandemic outbreak has not had a significant 
impact on the Company to date, but we advise the Board of 
Directors to monitor the Company’s operational response 
and follow guidance from global health organisations and 
government. We note that appropriate disclosures are 
included in the subsequent events note within the financial 
statements.

■ No other material post balance sheet events have been 
identified that would require adjustment to, or disclosure in, 
the financial statements.

■ The Directors should confirm at the date of approval of the 
financial statements that they are not aware of any material 
events since the balance sheet date that would impact on 
the financial statements.

Going 
concern

■ The financial statements have been prepared on the 
going concern basis. Therefore, the Directors need 
to be satisfied that the Company will continue in 
existence for the foreseeable future (typically taken 
to mean at least 12 months from the date of approval 
of the financial statements).

■ We performed procedures including enquiries of 
management to ascertain whether there were any going 
concern issues relating to the Company. No conditions were 
identified, individually or collectively, that would cause us to 
disagree with the Directors’ assessment of the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern.

■ We held discussions with the Directors and the Investment 
Advisor on their assessment of the impact of COVID-19 
pandemic on the Company’s going concern status and note 
a material impact is not expected.

Related 
parties

■ Accounting standards require the disclosure of 
material related party transactions.

■ The directors need to be satisfied that all material 
related party transactions have been disclosed in the 
financial statements

■ We reviewed the Board meetings minutes, shareholder 
register, the list of related parties and the portfolio of 
investments for evidence of related parties. We also made 
enquiries to the Investment Advisor and the Administrator.

■ Related parties that have been brought to our attention have 
been disclosed in the financial statements.

Laws and 
regulations

■ Auditing standards require us to obtain confirmation 
from the directors that they are not aware of any 
material breaches of applicable laws and regulations 
relating to the Company, either in Ireland or abroad.

■ During the course of our audit work, we have not noted any 
breaches of applicable laws and regulations which could 
have a material impact on the Company’s activities.

Actual or 
suspected 
fraud or 
error

■ Auditing standards require us to plan and perform 
our audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused by error or 
fraud

■ Throughout the audit, we remained alert to the possible risk 
of fraud.

■ We made enquiries with management and performed 
procedures over the appropriateness of journal entries.

■ No instances of fraud were noted.
Other 
matters 

■ We are required to communicate to you any matter, 
which in our professional opinion, are significant to 
the over sight of the financial reporting process 

■ KPMG recommends that the Directors attend physically the 
Board meeting more frequently as opposed to dialling into 
them. There is a risk that Directors dialling in from abroad 
will create a taxable presence for the Company abroad and 
so income of the Company could be taxable in a foreign 
jurisdiction.

WiseAlpha Public Limited Company
For the period from 22 May 2019 to 31 December 2019
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Required communications with the Board of Directors
Type Response

Our management 
representation letter

We have not requested specific representations in addition to those areas normally covered by our 
standard representation letter for the period ended 31 December 2019.

Control deficiencies We have not identified any control deficiencies during the course of our audit of the Company.

Actual or suspected fraud, 
non-compliance with laws or 
regulations or illegal acts

Our audit was designed to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement due to fraud, or error. 
No actual or suspected fraud involving the Company management, employees of service providers 
with significant roles in internal control, or where fraud results in a material misstatement in the 
financial statements was identified during the audit.
No actual or suspected non-compliance with laws or regulation were identified during the audit.

Modifications to auditor’s 
report

None

Emphasis of matter/Other 
matter

None

Significant difficulties No significant difficulties were encountered during the audit.

Disagreements with 
management or scope 
limitations

The engagement team had no disagreements with management and no scope limitations were 
imposed by management during the audit.

Other matters warranting 
attention by those charged 
with governance

There were no matters to report arising from the audit that, in our professional judgement, are 
significant to the oversight of the financial reporting process.

Significant matters 
discussed or subject to 
correspondence with 
management

There were no matters to report arising from the audit that, in our professional judgment, are 
significant to the oversight of the financial reporting process.

Other information No material inconsistencies or omissions were identified related to other information in the annual 
report.

Subsequent events Other than those already disclosed, no material post balance sheet events have been identified that 
would require adjustment to, or disclosure in, the financial statements.
The Directors should confirm at the date of approval of the financial statements that they are not 
aware of any material events since the balance sheet date that would impact on the financial 
statements.

Accounting practices Over the course of our audit, we have evaluated the appropriateness of the Company‘s accounting 
policies, accounting estimates and financial statement disclosures. In general, we believe that these 
are appropriate. 

Independence We have separately provided you with a letter confirming our independence. We reaffirm our 
independence. Refer to the independence letter on page 7 of this report.

Breaches of independence No matters to report. The engagement team and the firm have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence.

Related parties There were no significant matters that arose during the audit in connection with the entity's related 
parties. 

Inquiries Over the course of our audit, we made all mandatory inquiries under the Auditing Standards. We have 
nothing to bring to your attention in this regard.

WiseAlpha Public Limited Company
For the period from 22 May 2019 to 31 December 2019
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Your audit team

WiseAlpha Public Limited Company
For the period from 22 May 2019 to 31 December 2019

Cristian Reyes
Audit Lead

KPMG Ireland
Tel: + 353 (1) 700 4010
cristian.reyes@kpmg.ie

Rochelle Tadique
Audit Associate Director

KPMG Ireland
Tel: + 353 (1) 700 4203
rochelle.tadique@kpmg.ie
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Audit findings
Appendix 1: Independence letter

Private and Confidential
To the Board of Directors
WiseAlpha Public Limited Company
12 Merrion Square
Dublin 2
Ireland

Assessment of our integrity, objectivity and independence as auditor of WiseAlpha Public Limited Company (the “Company”)

Professional ethical standards require us to inform you at the conclusion of the audit all significant facts and matters that may bear upon KPMG’s
integrity, objectivity and independence.

This letter is intended to comply with this requirement and facilitate a subsequent discussion with you on audit independence and addresses:

 General procedures to safeguard integrity, independence and objectivity;
 Integrity, independence and objectivity considerations relating to the provision of non-audit services and their fees; and
 Integrity, independence and objectivity considerations relating to other matters.

General procedures to safeguard integrity, independence and objectivity

KPMG is committed to being and being seen to be independent. As part of our ethics and independence policies, all KPMG Partners and staff annually
confirm their compliance with our ethics and independence policies and procedures including in particular that they have no prohibited shareholdings.
Our ethics and independence policies and procedures are fully consistent with the requirements of the IAASA Ethical Standard for Auditors (Ireland)
April 2017. As a result, we have underlying safeguards in place to maintain independence through:

 Instilling professional values;
 Communications;
 Internal accountability;
 Risk management; and
 Independent reviews.

We are satisfied that our general procedures support our integrity, independence and objectivity. 

Integrity, independence and objectivity considerations relating to the provision of non-audit services 

Facts and matters related to the provision of non-audit services and the safeguards put in place that bear upon our integrity, independence and
objectivity, are set out in the following table:

Analysis of Non-audit services for the period ended 31 December 2019 

WiseAlpha Public Limited Company
For the period from 22 May 2019 to 31 December 2019

Disclosure Description of scope of 
services

Principal threats to 
Independence 

Safeguards Applied

Tax compliance 
services 

Assistance with the completion 
of the corporate tax returns for 
WiseAlpha Plc

Self-review & 
Management

Work performed by a team separate from the audit team.

Services do not result in any material judgments within the
financial statements.

Management remain responsible for any decisions.
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Audit findings
Appendix 1: Independence letter (continued)

Integrity, independence and objectivity considerations relating to other matters

Other Considerations

Reliance on the work of external experts

Firms may employ external consultants as experts as part of their engagement, for example, in an audit engagement, in order to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding certain financial statement assertions. There may be threats to an expert’s integrity or objectivity and their
independence may be compromised if the expert is related to any entity relevant to the engagement, for example by being financially dependent upon or
having an investment in, the entity.

We confirm that we have not used the work of external experts engaged by KPMG.

There are no other matters that, in our professional judgement, bear on our independence which need to be disclosed to the Board of Directors.

Confirmation of audit independence

We confirm that as of the date of this letter, in our professional judgment, KPMG is independent within the meaning of regulatory and professional
requirements and the objectivity of the engagement partner and audit staff is not impaired.

This report is intended solely for the information of the Board of the Company and should not be used for any other purposes.

We would be very happy to discuss the matters identified above (or any other matters relating to our objectivity and independence) should you wish to
do so.

Yours faithfully,

KPMG

WiseAlpha Public Limited Company
For the period from 22 May 2019 to 31 December 2019
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Important notice:
Basis of preparation
We have prepared this Audit Findings Report (‘Report’) in accordance with the terms of our audit 
engagement letter.
Purpose of this report
This Report is presented to you in order to communicate matters of interest as required by by ISAs 
(including ISA 260 Communication with Those Charged with Governance), and other matters coming to 
our attention during our audit work that we consider might be of interest, and for no other purpose. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone (beyond that which 
we may have as auditors) for this Report, or for the opinions we have formed in respect of this Report. 
Restrictions on distribution
This Report is for the benefit and information of those charged with governance only and should not be 
copied, referred to or disclosed, in whole or in part, without our prior written consent, except as specifically 
permitted in our engagement letter. We accept no responsibility to any other party who obtains access to 
this report, whether under the Freedom of Information Act or otherwise.  
Limitations on work performed
This Report is separate from our audit report and does not provide an additional opinion on the Company‘s 
financial statements, nor does it add to or extend or alter our duties and responsibilities as auditors 
reporting to the Company‘s members in accordance with the Companies Acts. 
We have not designed or performed procedures outside those required of us as auditors for the purpose of 
identifying or communicating any of the matters covered by this Report.
The matters reported are based on the knowledge gained as a result of our role as auditor to the 
Company. We have not verified the accuracy or completeness of any such information other than in 
connection with and to the extent required for the purposes of the audit.

© 2020 KPMG, an Irish partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member 
firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights 
reserved. Printed in Ireland

http://www.kpmg.ie/
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WISEALPHA PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY

DIRECTORS' REPORT

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

No. Company Industry Asset Security ISIN
 Market Value as at 31 

December 201ϵ
 £ 

Currency

1.       NeZDa\ BankV & FinancialV SeniRU SecXUed XS1554448271                             610,157 GBP
2.       LRZell (GaUfXnkelX[) BankV & FinancialV UnVecXUed XS1308316568 706,261                           GBP
3.       JXVW GURXS BankV & FinancialV UnVecXUed XS2059770409 107,700                           GBP
4.       MeWUR Bank BankV & FinancialV UnVecXUed XS2063492396 108,452                           GBP

5.       IndeSendenW Oil & GaV EneUg\, UWiliWieV &
InfUaVWUXcWXUe SeniRU SecXUed NO0010863236 174,064                           EUR

6.       AUdRnagh (KiUV) BankV & FinancialV SeniRU SecXUed XS1623760128 832,266                           GBP
7.       The AA SeUYiceV SeniRU SecXUed XS1211308231 886,164                           GBP

8.       EURV InWeUnaWiRnal EnWeUWainmenW, Media &
BURadcaVWing SeniRU UnVecXUed XS1112834608 395,354                           GBP

9.       4Finance BankV & FinancialV SeniRU UnVecXUed XS1417876163 90,066                             EUR
10.    CRnVXV Real EVWaWe PURSeUW\ SeniRU SecXUed XS1843437465 186,944                           EUR
11.    InWX PURSeUWieV PURSeUW\ SeniRU SecXUed XS0904228557 91,513                             GBP
12.    Pi]]a E[SUeVV CRnVXmeU & FRRd SeniRU SecXUed XS1028948120 562,015                           GBP

13.    InWeUGen EneUg\, UWiliWieV &
InfUaVWUXcWXUe SeniRU SecXUed XS0940701807 796,220                           GBP

14.    DRmeVWic & GeneUal CRnVXmeU & FRRd SeniRU SecXUed XS2028892474 327,140                           GBP

15.    EnQXeVW EneUg\, UWiliWieV &
InfUaVWUXcWXUe UnVecXUed XS0880578728 173,580                           GBP

16.    AmigR LRanV BankV & FinancialV SeniRU SecXUed XS1533928625 394,833                           GBP

17.    InWeUnaWiRnal PeUVRnal Finance BankV & FinancialV UnVecXUed XS1054714248 88,069                             EUR

18.    RAC SeUYiceV SeniRU SecXUed XS1645523579 453,970                           GBP
19.    Saga TUaYel SeniRU UnVecXUed XS1610655950 269,034                           GBP

20.    WRUldZide FlighW SeUYiceV BXVineVV SeUYiceV,
ShiSSing & LRgiVWicV SeniRU SecXUed XS1860216909 78,672                             EUR

21.    BXUfRUd CaSiWal BankV & FinancialV SeniRU UnVecXUed XS1088905093 209,274                           GBP
22.    AlSha PlXV GURXS EdXcaWiRn SeniRU SecXUed XS1379593566 47,906                             GBP

23.    AMP Clean EneUg\ EneUg\, UWiliWieV &
InfUaVWUXcWXUe SeniRU SecXUed GB00BYVQM755 273,406                           GBP

24.    VR\age CaUe HealWhcaUe UnVecXUed XS1533910847 280,769                           GBP

25.    PenViRn InVXUance
CRUSRUaWiRn BankV & FinancialV UnVecXUed, AT1 XS1843431427 237,640                           GBP

26.    DRmeVWic & GeneUal CRnVXmeU & FRRd UnVecXUed XS2028892987 319,509                           GBP

AV aW 31 DecembeU 2019, Whe CRmSan\ held Whe fRllRZing InYeVWmenWV Zhich ZeUe YalXed aW  �24,203,418: 

The DiUecWRUV SUeVenW WheiU DiUecWRUV' UeSRUW and Whe aXdiWed financial VWaWemenWV Rf WiVeAlSha PXblic LimiWed CRmSan\ (Whe
³CRmSan\´) fRU Whe financial SeUiRd fURm 22 Ma\ 2019 (daWe Rf incRUSRUaWiRn) WR 31 DecembeU 2019.

The CRmSan\ ZaV incRUSRUaWed in IUeland Rn 22 Ma\ 2019 ZiWh UegiVWUaWiRn nXmbeU 650450. The CRmSan\ iV a VSecial SXUSRVe
cRmSan\ and TXalifieV fRU Whe Uegime cRnWained in SecWiRn 110 Rf Whe IUiVh Ta[eV CRnVRlidaWiRn AcW, 1997 (Whe ³TCA´). ThiV SURYideV
WhaW a TXalif\ing cRmSan\ Zill be liable WR cRUSRUaWiRn Wa[ aW Whe UaWe Rf 25% XndeU CaVe III Rf SchedXle D Rf Whe TCA, in UeVSecW Rf
Wa[able SURfiWV.  The CRmSan\ haV UaiVed finance b\ Whe iVVXe Rf XnVecXUed nRn-negRWiable SaUWiciSaWiRn fUacWiRnal bRndV ("NRWeV"), Whe 
SURceedV haYe been XVed WR inYeVW in VeniRU VecXUed and XnVecXUed high \ield bRndV ("InYeVWmenWV"), iVVXed b\ UeSXWable liVWed
cRmSanieV, baVed mainl\ in Whe UniWed KingdRm.

On 29 OcWRbeU 2019, Whe CRmSan\ enWeUed inWR Whe Deed Rf SXbVWiWXWiRn, ZheUeb\ Whe CRmSan\ acceded WR and became Whe VXbVWiWXWe
iVVXeU in UeVSecW Rf a SURgUamme fRU Whe iVVXe Rf XnVecXUed nRWeV RUiginall\ eVWabliVhed b\ WiVeAlSha LimiWed (Whe "OUiginal IVVXeU")
(Whe ³SXbVWiWXWiRn´). In addiWiRn WR Whe SXbVWiWXWiRn, Whe CRmSan\ eVWabliVhed a SURgUamme XndeU Zhich iW ZRXld iVVXe YaUiRXV VeUieV
Rf nRn-negRWiable SaUWiciSaWiRn fUacWiRnal bRndV gRing fRUZaUd. The NRWeV aUe RffeUed WR UeWail inYeVWRUV aV SaUW Rf Whe CRmSan\'V
bXVineVV mRdel. The NRWeV aUe limiWed UecRXUVe and nRn-SeWiWiRn in naWXUe. The NRWeV iVVXed b\ Whe CRmSan\ haYe a maWXUiW\ Rf fiYe
bXVineVV da\V afWeU Whe maWXUiW\ daWe Rf Whe inYeVWmenW Whe\ UelaWe WR. In addiWiRn WR WhiV, Whe CRmSan\ iV e[SecWed WR UeWain a SURfiW Rf
GBP 1,000 SeU \eaU. The NRWeV aUe nRn-WUanVfeUable and aUe, WheUefRUe e[emSW fURm Whe EU PURVSecWXV DiUecWiYe and iWV UelaWed
UeTXiUemenWV. 

SchedXle 1 
SchedXle of InYeVWmenWV
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WISEALPHA PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY

DIRECTORS' REPORT - (CONTINUED)

No. Compan\ IndXVWr\ AVVeW SecXriW\ ISIN
 Market Value as at 31 

December 201ϵ
 £ 

CXrrenc\

27.    NeZDa\ BankV & FinancialV SeniRU SecXUed XS1554449089                             298,587 GBP
28.    PXnch TaYeUnV PURSeUW\ UnVecXUed XS1114385955                             199,591 GBP
29.    TUaYelRdge TUaYel SeniRU SecXUed XS2021472084                             509,873 GBP
30.    TRgeWheU BankV & FinancialV UnVecXUed XS1882541953                             307,449 GBP
31.    RefiniWiY BankV & FinancialV SeniRU UnVecXUed XS1843460103                               97,716 EUR
32.    FlRUa FRRdV GURXS CRnVXmeU & FRRd SeniRU UnVecXUed XS1813504666                               86,641 EUR
33.    VR\age CaUe HealWhcaUe SeniRU SecXUed XS1533911142                             205,150 GBP

34.    AWalian BXVineVV SeUYiceV,
ShiSSing & LRgiVWicV SeniRU UnVecXUed XS1820760079                             397,032 GBP

35.    EneUgia EneUg\, UWiliWieV &
InfUaVWUXcWXUe SeniRU SecXUed XS1684812339                             206,567 GBP

36.    AUdagh CRnVXmeU & FRRd SeniRU UnVecXUed XS1628848241                             107,581 GBP
37.    PUemiXm CUediW BankV & FinancialV UnVecXUed XS1028955687                             301,176 GBP
38.    AVWRn MaUWin AXWRmRWiYe SeniRU SecXUed XS1533915564                             380,336 GBP
39.    Pi]]a E[SUeVV CRnVXmeU & FRRd UnVecXUed XS1028948047                             246,850 GBP
40.    The CR-RSeUaWiYe Bank BankV & FinancialV UnVecXUed XS1986325972                             315,201 GBP
41.    TP ICAP BankV & FinancialV SeniRU UnVecXUed XS1555815494                             109,973 GBP

42.    Dail\ Mail & GeneUal TUXVW EnWeUWainmenW, Media &
BURadcaVWing SeniRU UnVecXUed XS0306155499                             120,134 GBP

43.    Cl\deVdale Bank BankV & FinancialV UnVecXUed, AT1 XS1959441640                             228,305 GBP
44.    JXVW GURXS BankV & FinancialV UnVecXUed, AT1 XS1934875219                             217,298 GBP

45.    Anglian WaWeU EneUg\, UWiliWieV &
InfUaVWUXcWXUe SeniRU UnVecXUed XS1732478000                               98,786 GBP

46.    McLaUen AXWRmRWiYe SeniRU SecXUed XS1577956516                             398,967 GBP
47.    ViUgin Media Cable & TelecRmV SeniRU SecXUed XS1498566766                             314,462 GBP
48.    JRhn LeZiV ReWail SeniRU UnVecXUed XS1140961563                               97,306 GBP

49.    PenViRn InVXUance
CRUSRUaWiRn BankV & FinancialV UnVecXUed XS1523966197                             127,002 GBP

50.    CabRW Financial BankV & FinancialV SeniRU SecXUed XS1405768596                             319,404 GBP
51.    ShaZbURRk Bank BankV & FinancialV UnVecXUed, AT1 XS1731676794                             201,704 GBP

52.    William Hill EnWeUWainmenW, Media &
BURadcaVWing SeniRU UnVecXUed XS1412547660                             108,724 GBP

53.    CenWeU PaUcV PURSeUW\ SeniRU SecXUed XS1622392014                             210,893 GBP
54.    DeXWVche Bank BankV & FinancialV UnVecXUed, AT1 XS1071551391                             189,090 GBP

55.    DP WRUld EneUg\, UWiliWieV &
InfUaVWUXcWXUe SeniRU SecXUed XS1883878883                             112,740 GBP

56.    AUTiYa EnWeUWainmenW, Media &
BURadcaVWing SeniRU UnVecXUed XS1879638697                             217,366 GBP

57.    PUemieU FRRdV CRnVXmeU & FRRd SeniRU SecXUed XS1823568248                             212,888 GBP

58.    CenWUica EneUg\, UWiliWieV &
InfUaVWUXcWXUe UnVecXUed XS1216019585                             108,469 GBP

59.    SanWandeU UK BankV & FinancialV UnVecXUed, AT1 XS1244538523                             218,880 GBP
60.    VRdafRne Cable & TelecRmV SeniRU UnVecXUed XS1472483772                             101,392 GBP
61.    EnWeUSUiVe InnV PURSeUW\ SeniRU SecXUed XS0143315140                             207,861 GBP
62.    ViUgin Media Cable & TelecRmV SeniRU SecXUed XS1047556664                             219,811 GBP
63.    TRgeWheU BankV & FinancialV SeniRU SecXUed XS1568913559                             106,546 GBP

64.    PeWURbUaV EneUg\, UWiliWieV &
InfUaVWUXcWXUe SeniRU UnVecXUed XS0835891838                             112,652 GBP

65.    SWRnegaWe PURSeUW\ SeniRU SecXUed XS1575503146                             103,911 GBP
66.    Oak NRUWh Bank BankV & FinancialV UnVecXUed XS1713463047                             100,913 GBP
67.    BaUcla\V BankV & FinancialV UnVecXUed, AT1 XS1658012023                             209,844 GBP
68.    EnWeUSUiVe InnV PURSeUW\ SeniRU SecXUed XS1112725814                             102,903 GBP

69.    EDF EneUg\, UWiliWieV &
InfUaVWUXcWXUe UnVecXUed FR0011700293                             112,470 GBP

70.    R.E.A. HRldingV EneUg\, UWiliWieV &
InfUaVWUXcWXUe SeniRU UnVecXUed GB00BYY8MM32                               89,990 GBP

71.    MeWUR Bank BankV & FinancialV UnVecXUed XS1844097987                             164,490 GBP
72.    LRZell (GaUfXnkelX[) BankV & FinancialV SeniRU SecXUed XS1308300059                          1,006,414 GBP

SchedXle 1 
SchedXle of InYeVWmenWV
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WISEALPHA PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY

DIRECTORS' REPORT - (CONTINUED)

No. Compan\ IndXVWr\ AVVeW SecXriW\ ISIN
 Market Value as at 31 

December 201ϵ
 £ 

CXrrenc\

73.    Iceland ReWail SeniRU SecXUed XS1087780166                             486,469 GBP
74.    UniTXe PXb CR. PURSeUW\ SeniRU SecXUed XS0154961188                             122,673 GBP

75.    AMC EnWeUWainmenW, Media &
BURadcaVWing UnVecXUed XS1512809606                             199,171 GBP

76.    PaUagRn GURXS BankV & FinancialV UnVecXUed XS1482136154                             109,185 GBP
77.    ShRS DiUecW ReWail SeniRU SecXUed XS1709298969                             483,417 GBP
78.    PUemieU FRRdV CRnVXmeU & FRRd SeniRU SecXUed XS1619820324                             101,793 GBP
79.    SWRnegaWe PURSeUW\ SeniRU SecXUed XS1946748057                             101,348 GBP

80.    MilleU HRmeV HRXVebXildeUV &
CRnVWUXcWiRn SeniRU SecXUed XS1689521125                             105,326 GBP

81.    Wagamama CRnVXmeU & FRRd SeniRU SecXUed XS1640922917                             101,454 GBP
82.    Talk Talk Cable & TelecRmV SeniRU UnVecXUed XS1550932344                             104,173 GBP

83.    ThameV WaWeU EneUg\, UWiliWieV &
InfUaVWUXcWXUe SeniRU UnVecXUed XS1267053103                             106,703 GBP

84.    OcadR TechnRlRg\ SeniRU SecXUed XS1634001892                             185,260 GBP
85.    PXUeG\m ReWail SeniRU SecXUed XS1756633126                             107,497 GBP
86.    AUURZ BankV & FinancialV SeniRU SecXUed XS1486544254                             103,655 GBP
87.    JagXaU Land RRYeU AXWRmRWiYe SeniRU UnVecXUed XS1195502031                               97,626 GBP

88.    Yell EnWeUWainmenW, Media &
BURadcaVWing SeniRU SecXUed XS1813549257                             135,350 GBP

89.    ViUgin Media Cable & TelecRmV SeniRU SecXUed XS1797821037                             105,430 GBP
90.    Iceland ReWail SeniRU SecXUed XS1681806326                               88,843 GBP
91.    M\DenWiVW (IDH) HealWhcaUe SeniRU SecXUed XS1458419840                               93,151 GBP
92.    M\DenWiVW (IDH) HealWhcaUe SeniRU SecXUed XS1458419501                               95,146 GBP
93.    Cl\deVdale Bank BankV & FinancialV UnVecXUed, AT1 XS1346644799                             209,822 GBP

94.    Cl\deVdale Bank (ViUgin
MRne\) BankV & FinancialV UnVecXUed, AT1 XS1516312409                             439,692 GBP

95.    DebenhamV ReWail SeniRU UnVecXUed XS1081972850                               90,945 GBP
96.    BXUgeU King FUance CRnVXmeU & FRRd SeniRU SecXUed XS1600481821                               87,467 EUR
97.    ZiggR Cable & TelecRmV SeniRU SecXUed XS1493836461                               93,622 EUR
98.    TUaYele[ BankV & FinancialV SeniRU SecXUed XS1577963306                             265,569 EUR
99.    NeZ LRRk ReWail SeniRU SecXUed XS1984318342                             146,590 GBP
100. 2 SiVWeUV FRRd GURXS CRnVXmeU & FRRd SeniRU UnVecXUed XS1082472587                             226,645 GBP
101. RR\al LRndRn BankV & FinancialV SeniRU UnVecXUed XS2061962465                             105,797 GBP
102. GKN HRldingV AXWRmRWiYe SeniRU UnVecXUed XS1611857795                             103,685 GBP
103. MaUkV and SSenceU ReWail SeniRU UnVecXUed XS2024535036                             101,016 GBP
104. InWX DebenWXUe PURSeUW\ SeniRU SecXUed GB00B1DBF788                             166,569 GBP
105. HeaWhURZ Finance PURSeUW\ SeniRU UnVecXUed XS2081020872                             102,380 GBP

106. NeWfli[ EnWeUWainmenW, Media &
BURadcaVWing SeniRU UnVecXUed XS2076099865                               95,666 EUR

107. eVXUe BankV & FinancialV SeniRU UnVecXUed XS1155568436                             102,982 GBP
108. LendinYeVW BankV & FinancialV SeniRU SecXUed XS1649806343                             100,365 GBP
109. NeZ LRRk (defaXlWed) ReWail SeniRU XS1248518158                                      10 GBP
110. NeZ LRRk (defaXlWed) ReWail SeniRU SecXUed XS1248516616                             113,820 GBP

111. HRXVe Rf FUaVeU (defaXlWed) ReWail SeniRU SecXUed XS1266139895                                 4,790 GBP

SchedXle 1 
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WISEALPHA PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY

DIRECTORS' REPORT - (CONTINUED)

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Killian BXckle\ (IUiVh, aSSRinWed 11 OcWRbeU 2019)
JRhn Madigan (IUiVh, aSSRinWed 11 OcWRbeU 2019)
S\ad Re]aah Ahmad (BUiWiVh, aSSRinWed 24 Ma\ 2019)
DeiUdUe Geane\ (IUiVh, aSSRinWed 22 Ma\ 2019; UeVigned 13 SeSWembeU 2019)
LiVa O'SXlliYan (IUiVh, aSSRinWed 22 Ma\ 2019; UeVigned 11 OcWRbeU 2019)

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

GOING CONCERN

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS

The CRmSan\'V financial VWaWemenWV fRU Whe financial SeUiRd ended 31 DecembeU 2019 haYe been SUeSaUed Rn a gRing cRnceUn baViV.
The DiUecWRUV haYe a UeaVRnable e[SecWaWiRn WhaW Whe CRmSan\ haV adeTXaWe UeVRXUceV WR cRnWinXe in RSeUaWiRnal e[iVWence fRU Whe
fRUeVeeable fXWXUe and cRnWinXe WR adRSW Whe gRing cRnceUn baViV in SUeSaUing WheVe financial VWaWemenWV. FXUWheUmRUe, in Whe UecenW
deYelRSmenWV dXe WR CRYid-19, Whe InYeVWmenWV Rf Whe CRmSan\ declined in WheiU maUkeW YalXe SRVW \eaU end. An\ change in Whe YalXe
Rf Whe InYeVWmenWV iV diUecWl\ UeflecWed in Whe YalXe Rf Whe NRWeV, aV Whe CRmSan\'V NRWeV deUiYe WheiU incRme and YalXe diUecWl\ fURm
Whe InYeVWmenWV held b\ Whe CRmSan\, WheUefRUe limiWing Whe financial imSacW Rn Whe CRmSan\ dXe WR SUice flXcWXaWiRnV.

The CRmSan\ iV nRW e[SRVed WR an\ adYeUVe imSacW fURm BUe[iW aV all iWV aVVeWV aUe held in Whe UniWed KingdRm. In addiWiRn WR WhiV,
majRUiW\ Rf Whe inYeVWRUV aUe alVR baVed in Whe UniWed KingdRm.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT AUDIT INFORMATION
In SUeSaUing and aSSURYing WhiV DiUecWRU¶V UeSRUW and financial VWaWemenWV and in accRUdance ZiWh SecWiRn 330 (1) Rf Whe CRmSanieV
AcW 2014, each Rf Whe cXUUenW DiUecWRUV Rf Whe CRmSan\ cRnfiUm WhaW:

The Ke\ SeUfRUmance indicaWRU Rf Whe CRmSan\ iV SUimaUil\ baVed Rn incRme geneUaWed b\ Whe InYeVWmenWV and iWV abiliW\ WR meeW iWV
financial RbligaWiRnV. AV aW 31 DecembeU 2019, all InYeVWmenWV aUe SeUfRUming and WheUe aUe adeTXaWe caVh balanceV WR meeW financial
RbligaWiRnV UecRgni]ed in Whe SWaWemenW Rf Financial PRViWiRn. In addiWiRn WR WhiV, Whe CRmSan\ iV a SiRneeU in Whe indXVWU\, RffeUing
fUacWiRnal bRndV WR UeWail inYeVWRUV. TheUe iV a VignificanW aSSeWiWe ZiWh Whe inYeVWRUV fRU fUacWiRnal bRndV aV iW UedXceV Whe RYeUall UiVk
and allRZV Whe inYeVWRU WR diYeUVif\ WheiU bRnd SRUWfRliR. The CRmSan\ SlanV WR liVW Whe NRWeV Rn Whe GibUalWaU SWRck E[change in Whe
neaU fXWXUe. 

AV aW 31 DecembeU 2019, Whe CRmSan\ had inYeVWmenWV Rf �24,203,418 and nRWeV Rf �24,203,418. The neW gain Rn InYeVWmenWV held
aW FVTPL ZaV �1,035,698 and neW lRVV Rn NRWeV held aW FVTPL ZaV �1,035,698. 

The DiUecWRUV haYe nR SlanV WR change VignificanWl\ Whe acWiYiWieV and RSeUaWiRnV Rf Whe CRmSan\ in Whe fRUeVeeable fXWXUe. 

TheUe ZeUe nR SRliWical cRnWUibXWiRnV made b\ Whe CRmSan\ dXUing Whe financial SeUiRd ended 31 DecembeU 2019.

The SUinciSal UiVkV and XnceUWainWieV facing Whe CRmSan\ UelaWe WR Whe financial inVWUXmenWV held and iVVXed b\ iW. The diVclRVXUeV in
UelaWiRn WR Whe CRmSan\¶V SRlicieV fRU financial UiVk managemenW inclXding maUkeW UiVk, cUediW UiVk and liTXidiW\ UiVk and Whe naWXUe Rf
financial inVWUXmenWV XVed dXUing Whe financial SeUiRd WR miWigaWe e[SRVXUe WR WheVe UiVkV, aUe VhRZn in nRWe 16.

The nameV Rf Whe DiUecWRUV ZhR ZeUe in Rffice aW an\ Wime dXUing Whe financial SeUiRd ended 31 DecembeU 2019 aUe VeW RXW belRZ.
The\ VeUYed aV DiUecWRUV fRU Whe enWiUe financial SeUiRd XnleVV RWheUZiVe indicaWed. The DiUecWRUV and CRmSan\ SecUeWaU\ ZhR held
Rffice aW 31 DecembeU 2019 had nR inWeUeVW in Whe VhaUeV, VhaUe RSWiRnV, defeUUed VhaUeV, lRan VWRck RU debenWXUeV Rf Whe CRmSan\ RU
an\ gURXS XndeUWaking Rf Whe CRmSan\ ZiWhin Whe WiVeAlSha GURXS ("GURXS"), aW WhaW daWe RU aW an\ SRinW dXUing Whe financial SeUiRd.

DIRECTORS, SECRETARY AND THEIR INTERESTS

RelaWed SaUW\ WUanVacWiRnV aUe diVclRVed in nRWe 18 Rf Whe financial VWaWemenWV. 

DXUing Whe financial SeUiRd, Whe CRmSan\ made a SURfiW afWeU Wa[ Rf �125. The DiUecWRUV dR nRW UecRmmend Whe Sa\menW Rf a diYidend
fRU Whe financial SeUiRd ended 31 DecembeU 2019.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF WISEALPHA 
PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY  
 
Report on the audit of the financial statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of WiseAlpha Public Limited Company (‘the 
Company’) for the financial period from 22 May 2019 (date of incorporation) to 31 December 
2019, which comprise the Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows and related notes, including 
the summary of significant accounting policies set out in note 2. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is Irish Law and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements: 
• give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Company as 

at 31 December 2019 and of its profit for the period then ended; 
• have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union; 

and 
• have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 

2014. 

 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs 
(Ireland)) and applicable law.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described 
in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.  
We are independent of the Company in accordance with ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of financial statements in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard issued by the Irish 
Auditing and Accounting Supervisory Authority (IAASA), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 
 
We have nothing to report on going concern 
 
We are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis 
of accounting is inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast 
significant doubt over the use of that basis for a period of at least twelve months from the date 
of approval of the financial statements. We have nothing to report in these respects. 
  



 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF WISEALPHA 
PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY (continued) 
 
Other information 
 
The Directors are responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report together 
with the financial statements. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Directors’ report and the Statement of Directors’ responsibilities. The financial statements and 
our auditor’s report thereon do not comprise part of the other information. Our opinion on the 
financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express 
an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on 
our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work, 
we have not identified material misstatements in the other information. 
 
Based solely on our work on the other information, we report that:  
• we have not identified material misstatements in the Directors’ report; 
• in our opinion, the information given in the Directors’ report is consistent with the financial 

statements; and 
• in our opinion, the Directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with the Companies 

Act 2014.   

 
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2014 
 
We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the 
purposes of our audit. 
 
In our opinion, the accounting records of the Company were sufficient to permit the financial 
statements to be readily and properly audited and the financial statements are in agreement 
with the accounting records. 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 
The Companies Act 2014 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of 
Directors’ remuneration and transactions required by Sections 305 to 312 of the Act are not 
made. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
 
Respective responsibilities and restrictions on use 
 
Responsibilities of Directors for the financial statements 
 
As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 10, the 
Directors are responsible for: the preparation of the financial statements including being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
 
  



 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF WISEALPHA 
PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY (continued) 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.   
 
A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on IAASA’s website at 
https://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-458b-9b8f-
a98202dc9c3a/Description_of_auditors_responsiblities_for_audit.pdf.  
 
The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities 
 
Our report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 
391 of the Companies Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to 
the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report 
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for 
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
Cristian Reyes        26 May 2020 
for and on behalf of  
KPMG 
Chartered Accountants, Statutory Audit Firm 
1 Harbourmaster Place 
IFSC 
Dublin 1 
Ireland 
 
 
 
  





WISEALPHA PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

NoWe
Financial period from 

22 Ma\ 2019 Wo 31 
December 2019

�
NeW income
NeW gain Rn inYeVWmenWV aW FVTPL 9                        1,035,698 
NeW lRVV Rn nRWeV aW FVTPL 10                      (1,035,698)
OWheU incRme 11                             73,691 

                            73,691 

OWher operaWing e[penVeV
OWheU e[SenVeV 12                           (73,524)

                          (73,524)

ProfiW before Wa[aWion                                  167 

CRUSRUaWiRn Wa[ 15                                  (42)

ProfiW afWer Wa[aWion for Whe financial period                                  125 

OWher comprehenViYe income                                     -   

ToWal comprehenViYe income for Whe financial period                                  125 

The CRmSan\ haV nR iWemV Rf cRmSUehenViYe incRme in Whe financial SeUiRd RWheU Whan WhRVe dealW ZiWh in Whe SWaWemenW Rf
CRmSUehenViYe IncRme.  All amRXnWV UelaWe WR cRnWinXing RSeUaWiRnV.

The nRWeV Rn SageV 18 WR 38 fRUm an inWegUal SaUW Rf WheVe financial VWaWemenWV.

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019
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WISEALPHA PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

NoWe Share ReWained ToWal
CapiWal earningV EqXiW\

� � �
IVVXe Rf VhaUe caSiWal Rn 22 Ma\ 2019 8                   1                  -                     1 

IVVXe Rf VhaUe caSiWal Rn 24 SeSWembeU 2019 8        143,056                  -          143,056 

TRWal cRmSUehenViYe incRme fRU Whe financial SeUiRd                  -                 125               125 

Balance aW 31 DecembeU 2019        143,057               125        143,182 

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019

The nRWeV Rn SageV 18 WR 38 fRUm an inWegUal SaUW Rf WheVe financial VWaWemenWV.
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WISEALPHA PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

NoWeV
Financial period from 

22 Ma\ 2019 Wo 31 
December 2019

�
CaVh floZV from operaWing acWiYiWieV

TRWal cRmSUehenViYe incRme fRU financial SeUiRd                                125 

AGMXVWHG IRU:
CRXSRn incRme 9                        (545,295)
CRXSRn e[SenVe 10                         545,295 
NeW gain Rn inYeVWmenWV aW FVTPL 9                        (490,403)
NeW lRVV Rn nRWeV aW FVTPL 10                         490,403 
CKDQJHV LQ ZRUNLQJ FDSLWDO:
IncUeaVe in WUade and RWheU UeceiYableV 4                          (73,302)
IncUeaVe in WUade and RWheU Sa\ableV 6                         112,101 
CRXSRn Said                        (315,319)
NeW caVh XVed in RSeUaWing acWiYiWieV                        (276,395)

CaVh floZV XVed in inYeVWing acWiYiWieV

PXUchaVe Rf InYeVWmenWV aW FVTPL 5                     (2,259,848)
CRXSRn UeceiYed                         315,319 
NeW caVh XVed in inYeVWing acWiYiWieV                     (1,944,529)

CaVh floZV from financing acWiYiWieV

IVVXe Rf VhaUe caSiWal 8                         143,057 
PURceedV fURm iVVXe Rf NRWeV aW FVTPL 7                      2,259,848 
NeW caVh geneUaWed fURm financing acWiYiWieV                      2,402,905 

NeW incUeaVe in caVh and caVh eTXiYalenWV                         181,981 

CaVh and caVh eTXiYalenWV aW Whe beginning Rf Whe financial SeUiRd                                   -   

CaVh and caVh eTXiYalenWV aW Whe end Rf Whe financial SeUiRd 3                         181,981 

The nRWeV Rn SageV 18 WR 38 fRUm an inWegUal SaUW Rf WheVe financial VWaWemenWV.

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019
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WISEALPHA PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. BACKGROUND TO THE COMPANY

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019

WiVeAlSha PXblic LimiWed CRmSan\ ("The CRmSan\") ZaV incRUSRUaWed, dRmiciled and UegiVWeUed in IUeland Rn 22 Ma\
2019 ZiWh UegiVWUaWiRn nXmbeU 650450, and ZiWh a UegiVWeUed Rffice aW 12 MeUUiRn STXaUe, DXblin 2, CR. DXblin, IUeland. The
CRmSan\ iV a VSecial SXUSRVe cRmSan\ and TXalifieV fRU Whe Uegime cRnWained in SecWiRn 110 Rf Whe IUiVh Ta[eV CRnVRlidaWiRn
AcW, 1997 (Whe ³TCA´). ThiV SURYideV WhaW a TXalif\ing cRmSan\ Zill be liable WR cRUSRUaWiRn Wa[ aW Whe UaWe Rf 25% XndeU
CaVe III Rf SchedXle D Rf Whe TCA, in UeVSecW Rf Wa[able SURfiWV. The CRmSan\ haV UaiVed finance b\ Whe iVVXe Rf XnVecXUed
nRn-negRWiable SaUWiciSaWiRn fUacWiRnal bRndV ("NRWeV"), Whe SURceedV haYe been XVed WR inYeVW in VeniRU VecXUed and
XnVecXUed high \ield bRndV ("InYeVWmenWV"), iVVXed b\ UeSXWable liVWed cRmSanieV, baVed mainl\ in Whe UniWed KingdRm.

On 29 OcWRbeU 2019, Whe CRmSan\ enWeUed inWR Whe Deed Rf SXbVWiWXWiRn, ZheUeb\ Whe CRmSan\ acceded WR and became Whe
VXbVWiWXWe iVVXeU in UeVSecW Rf a SURgUamme fRU Whe iVVXe Rf XnVecXUed nRWeV RUiginall\ eVWabliVhed b\ WiVeAlSha LimiWed (Whe
"OUiginal IVVXeU") (Whe ³SXbVWiWXWiRn´). In addiWiRn WR Whe SXbVWiWXWiRn, Whe CRmSan\ eVWabliVhed a SURgUamme XndeU Zhich iW
ZRXld iVVXe YaUiRXV VeUieV Rf nRn-negRWiable SaUWiciSaWiRn fUacWiRnal bRndV gRing fRUZaUd. The NRWeV aUe RffeUed WR UeWail
inYeVWRUV aV SaUW Rf Whe CRmSan\'V bXVineVV mRdel. The NRWeV aUe limiWed UecRXUVe and nRn-SeWiWiRn in naWXUe. The NRWeV
iVVXed b\ Whe CRmSan\ haYe a maWXUiW\ Rf fiYe bXVineVV da\V afWeU Whe maWXUiW\ daWe Rf Whe inYeVWmenW Whe\ UelaWe WR. In
addiWiRn WR WhiV, Whe CRmSan\ iV e[SecWed WR UeWain a SURfiW Rf GBP 1,000 SeU \eaU. The NRWeV aUe nRn-WUanVfeUable and aUe,
WheUefRUe e[emSW fURm Whe EU PURVSecWXV DiUecWiYe and iWV UelaWed UeTXiUemenWV. 

On 11 NRYembeU 2019, Whe BRaUd aSSURYed WR inYeVW in a Uange Rf VeniRU VecXUed and XnVecXUed high \ield bRndV deWailV Rf
Zhich can be fRXnd in Whe DiUecWRUV' UeSRUW, Zhich VhRZV Whe CRmSan\'V VchedXle Rf inYeVWmenWV aV aW 31 DecembeU 2019.

SWaWemenW of compliance

The financial VWaWemenWV haYe been SUeSaUed in accRUdance ZiWh InWeUnaWiRnal Financial ReSRUWing SWandaUdV ("IFRS") aV
adRSWed b\ Whe EXURSean UniRn ("EU") and WhRVe SaUWV Rf Whe CRmSanieV AcW 2014 aSSlicable WR cRmSanieV UeSRUWing XndeU
IFRS EU. The accRXnWing SRlicieV VeW RXW belRZ haYe been aSSlied in SUeSaUing Whe financial VWaWemenWV fRU Whe financial
SeUiRd ended 31 DecembeU 2019. TheUe haV been nR maWeUial deSaUWXUe fURm Whe SWandaUdV. TheVe accRXnWing SRlicieV haYe
been aSSlied cRnViVWenWl\ in SUeSaUing Whe financial VWaWemenWV fRU Whe SeUiRd ended 31 DecembeU 2019.

BaViV of preparaWion

AV aW 31 DecembeU 2019, Whe DiUecWRUV belieYe WhaW Whe CRmSan\ had adeTXaWe UeVRXUceV WR cRnWinXe in RSeUaWiRnal e[iVWence.
OZing WR Whe limiWed UecRXUVe naWXUe Rf Whe nRWeV deVignaWed aW faiU YalXe WhURXgh SURfiW RU lRVV, Whe CRmSan\ Zill nRW UealiVe
an\ lRVVeV RUiginaWing fURm Whe InYeVWmenWV aW FVTPL Vince an\ lRVVeV Zill be XlWimaWel\ bRUne b\ Whe nRWehRldeUV. OZing WR
Whe VXbVWance Rf Whe WUanVacWiRn XndeUWaken b\ Whe CRmSan\ and Whe e[SecWed fXWXUe bXVineVV SlanV, Whe DiUecWRUV cRnclXded
WhaW Whe gRing cRnceUn baViV WR be aSSURSUiaWe in SUeSaUing WheVe financial VWaWemenWV.

The meWhRd XVed WR meaVXUe faiU YalXeV iV diVcXVVed fXUWheU in nRWeV 5, 7 and 17.
In RUdeU WR aYRid Whe accRXnWing miVmaWch WhaW ZRXld RWheUZiVe aUiVe, Whe CRmSan\ haV deVignaWed Whe nRWeV iVVXed WR be aW
faiU YalXe WhURXgh SURfiW RU lRVV aV Whe inYeVWmenWV aUe mRniWRUed, managed and UeSRUWed Rn, Rn a faiU YalXe baViV baVed Rn Whe
bXVineVV mRdel Rf Whe CRmSan\.

The financial VWaWemenWV haYe been SUeSaUed Rn Whe hiVWRUical cRVW baViV e[ceSW fRU Whe fRllRZing, Zhich haYe been claVVified
aW faiU YalXe WhURXgh SURfiW RU lRVV XndeU IFRS 9:
� InYeVWmenWV aW FVTPL aUe meaVXUed aW faiU YalXe; and
� NRWeV deVignaWed aV aW FVTPL aUe meaVXUed aW faiU YalXe.
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WISEALPHA PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (CONTINUED)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (CONTINUED)

UVe of eVWimaWeV and jXdgemenWV 

In aSSl\ing Whe YalXaWiRn WechniTXe, Whe CRmSan\ makeV aVVXmSWiRnV WhaW aUe mainl\ baVed Rn maUkeW cRndiWiRnV e[iVWing aW 
Whe end Rf each UeSRUWing SeUiRd, VRme Rf Zhich aUe XnRbVeUYable aV RXWlined in NRWe 17 WR Whe financial VWaWemenWV.

BecaXVe Rf iWV limiWed UecRXUVe naWXUe, Whe faiU YalXe Rf NRWeV iVVXed b\ Whe CRmSan\ (nRWeV aW FVTPL) iV deWeUmined b\
UefeUence WR Whe faiU YalXe Rf aVVRciaWed inYeVWmenWV aW FVTPL. An\ fXWXUe change in Whe faiU YalXe Rf inYeVWmenWV Zill haYe
an eTXal bXW RSSRViWe imSacW Rn Whe faiU YalXe Rf nRWeV.

InfRUmaWiRn abRXW jXdgemenWV made in aSSl\ing accRXnWing SRlicieV WhaW haYe Whe mRVW VignificanW effecWV Rn Whe amRXnWV 
UecRgniVed in Whe financial VWaWemenWV iV inclXded belRZ Rn Whe deWeUminaWiRn Rf Whe CRmSan\'V fXncWiRnal cXUUenc\. 

KH\ VRXUFHV RI HVWLPDWLRQ XQFHUWDLQW\

The eVWimaWeV and XndeUl\ing aVVXmSWiRnV aUe UeYieZed Rn an RngRing baViV. ReYiViRnV WR accRXnWing eVWimaWeV aUe
UecRgniVed in Whe financial SeUiRd in Zhich Whe eVWimaWe iV UeYiVed if Whe UeYiViRn affecWV Rnl\ WhaW financial SeUiRd, RU in Whe
financial SeUiRd Rf Whe UeYiViRn and fXWXUe financial SeUiRdV if Whe UeYiViRn affecWV bRWh cXUUenW and fXWXUe financial SeUiRdV. 

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019

The fRllRZing aUe Whe cUiWical jXdgemenWV, aSaUW fURm WhRVe inYRlYing eVWimaWeV, WhaW Whe DiUecWRUV haYe made in Whe SURceVV Rf
aSSl\ing Whe CRmSan\¶V accRXnWing SRlicieV and WhaW haYe Whe mRVW VignificanW effecW Rn Whe amRXnWV UecRgniVed in Whe
financial VWaWemenWV.

FXncWional and preVenWaWion cXrrenc\

TheVe financial VWaWemenWV aUe SUeVenWed in PRXnd SWeUling denRminaWed b\ Whe V\mbRl ³�´ Zhich iV Whe CRmSan\¶V
fXncWiRnal cXUUenc\ and SUeVenWaWiRn cXUUenc\. ThiV UeflecWV Whe facW WhaW Whe majRUiW\ Rf Whe CRmSan\¶V WUanVacWiRnV aUe
denRminaWed in WhiV cXUUenc\ and Whe DiUecWRUV haYe deWeUmined WhaW WhiV UeflecWV Whe CRmSan\'V SUimaU\ ecRnRmic
enYiURnmenW.

IQYHVWPHQWV SXUFKDVHG DQG QRWHV LVVXHG DW IDLU YDOXH WKURXJK SURILW RU ORVV.

NRWeV 5, 7 and 17 WR Whe financial VWaWemenWV deVcUibe WhaW Whe DiUecWRUV haYe meaVXUed Whe InYeVWmenWV and NRWeV iVVXed aW
faiU YalXe WhURXgh SURfiW RU lRVV. In making WheiU jXdgemenW, Whe DiUecWRUV haYe cRnVideUed Whe UeTXiUemenWV Rf IFRS 9
Financial InVWUXmenWV. The DiUecWRUV cRnVideU WhaW VXch meaVXUemenW Zill VignificanWl\ UedXce an accRXnWing miVmaWch WhaW
ZRXld RWheUZiVe aUiVe fURm meaVXUing aVVeWV RU liabiliWieV RU UecRgniVing Whe gainV and lRVVeV Rn Whem Rn diffeUenW baVeV.
PleaVe Vee nRWeV 5, 7 and 17.

The fRllRZing aUe Whe ke\ aVVXmSWiRnV cRnceUning Whe fXWXUe, and RWheU ke\ VRXUceV Rf eVWimaWiRn XnceUWainW\ aW Whe UeSRUWing
daWe, WhaW haYe a VignificanW UiVk Rf caXVing a maWeUial adjXVWmenW WR Whe caUU\ing amRXnWV Rf aVVeWV and liabiliWieV ZiWhin Whe
ne[W financial \eaU.

The SUeSaUaWiRn Rf Whe financial VWaWemenWV in accRUdance ZiWh IFRS EU, UeTXiUeV Whe DiUecWRUV WR make jXdgemenWV, eVWimaWeV
and aVVXmSWiRnV WhaW ma\ affecW Whe aSSlicaWiRn Rf accRXnWing SRlicieV and Whe UeSRUWed amRXnWV Rf aVVeWV, liabiliWieV, incRme
and e[SenVeV. AcWXal UeVXlWV ma\ diffeU fURm WheVe eVWimaWeV. 
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WISEALPHA PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (CONTINUED)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (CONTINUED)

Financial inVWrXmenWV

� NRWeV aW FVTPL.

IFRS 14 RegXlaWRU\ DefeUUal AccRXnWV

EU effecWiYe daWe
(periodV beginning)*

NeZ VWandardV and inWerpreWaWionV noW \eW adopWed 
EIIHFWLYH IRU DQQXDO SHULRGV EHJLQQLQJ RQ RU DIWHU 1 JDQXDU\ 2020

DefiniWiRn Rf MaWeUial (AmendmenWV WR IAS 1 and IAS 8)
AmendmenWV WR RefeUenceV WR CRnceSWXal FUameZRUk in IFRS SWandaUdV

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019

*WheUe neZ UeTXiUemenWV aUe endRUVed, Whe EU effecWiYe daWe iV diVclRVed. WheUe an\ Rf Whe XScRming UeTXiUemenWV aUe
aSSlicable WR Whe CRmSan\, iW Zill aSSl\ Whem fURm WheiU EU effecWiYe daWe.

The DiUecWRUV haYe cRnVideUed Whe neZ VWandaUdV, amendmenWV and inWeUSUeWaWiRnV aV deWailed in Whe abRYe Wable and dR nRW
Slan WR adRSW WheVe VWandaUdV eaUl\. The aSSlicaWiRn Rf all Rf WheVe VWandaUdV, amendmenWV RU inWeUSUeWaWiRnV Zill be cRnVideUed
in deWail in adYance Rf a cRnfiUmed effecWiYe daWe b\ Whe CRmSan\. The DiUecWRUV haYe UeYieZed WhRVe VWandaUdV and
inWeUSUeWaWiRnV WhaW aUe iVVXed bXW nRW \eW effecWiYe XS WR Whe daWe Rf iVVXance Rf Whe CRmSan\'V financial VWaWemenWV and
aVVeVVed WhaW nRne Rf WhRVe neZ VWandaUdV and inWeUSUeWaWiRnV aUe e[SecWed WR haYe an imSacW Rn Whe CRmSan\'V financial
VWaWemenWV. 

1 Jan 2020

Foreign cXrrenc\ WranVacWionV

TUanVacWiRnV in fRUeign cXUUencieV aUe WUanVlaWed WR Whe fXncWiRnal cXUUenc\ Rf Whe CRmSan\ aW e[change UaWeV aW Whe daWeV Rf
Whe WUanVacWiRnV. MRneWaU\ aVVeWV and liabiliWieV denRminaWed in fRUeign cXUUencieV aW Whe UeSRUWing daWe aUe UeWUanVlaWed WR Whe
fXncWiRnal cXUUenc\ aW Whe e[change UaWe aW WhaW daWe. FRUeign cXUUenc\ diffeUenceV aUiVing Rn UeWUanVlaWiRn aUe UecRgniVed in
Whe SWaWemenW Rf CRmSUehenViYe IncRme.

NRW \eW endRUVed
NRW endRUVed

NRW endRUVed

SWandardV and inWerpreWaWionV

1 Jan 2020
1 Jan 2020

NRW \eW endRUVed
NRW \eW endRUVed

The CRmSan\ iniWiall\ UecRgniVeV all financial aVVeWV and liabiliWieV Rn Whe WUade daWe aW Zhich Whe CRmSan\ becRmeV a SaUW\
WR Whe cRnWUacWXal SURYiViRnV Rf Whe inVWUXmenWV. PXUchaVeV and ValeV Rf financial aVVeWV and financial liabiliWieV aUe UecRgniVed
XVing WUade daWe accRXnWing. FURm WUade daWe, an\ gainV and lRVVeV aUiVing fURm changeV in faiU YalXe Rf Whe financial aVVeWV RU
financial liabiliWieV aUe UecRUded in Whe SWaWemenW Rf cRmSUehenViYe incRme.

Sale RU CRnWUibXWiRn Rf AVVeWV beWZeen an InYeVWRU and iWV AVVRciaWe RU JRinW 
VenWXUe (AmendmenWV WR IFRS 10 and IAS 28)

ClaVVificaWiRn Rf liabiliWieV aV cXUUenW RU nRn-cXUUenW (AmendmenWV WR IAS 1)
IFRS 17 InVXUance CRnWUacWV
DefiniWiRn Rf a BXVineVV (AmendmenWV WR IFRS 3)
InWeUeVW RaWe BenchmaUk RefRUm (AmendmenWV WR IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7)

The financial inVWUXmenWV held b\ Whe CRmSan\ inclXde Whe fRllRZing:
� InYeVWmenWV aW FVTPL; and

The CRmSan\ haV adRSWed IFRS 9 Financial InVWUXmenWV.
RHFRJQLWLRQ DQG LQLWLDO PHDVXUHPHQW
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WISEALPHA PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (CONTINUED)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (CONTINUED)

Financial inVWrXmenWV (conWinXed)

Financial aVVeWV WhaW aUe managed and ZhRVe SeUfRUmance iV eYalXaWed Rn a faiU YalXe baViV aUe meaVXUed aW FVTPL.

The CRmSan\ inclXdeV in WhiV caWegRU\ inYeVWmenWV aW FVTPL WhaW aUe held XndeU a bXVineVV mRdel WR manage Whem Rn a faiU
YalXe baViV fRU inYeVWmenW incRme and faiU YalXe gainV. The InYeVWmenW AdYiVRU UeYieZV Whe SeUfRUmance Rf Whe inYeVWmenWV
in Whe SRUWfRliR UegXlaUl\ Rn a faiU YalXe baViV and XVeV maUkeW YalXeV WR aVVeVV if Velling an\ inYeVWmenWV ZRXld ma[imiVe Whe
UeWXUn WR Whe nRWehRldeUV. 

FLQDQFLDO OLDELOLWLHV
FLQDQFLDO OLDELOLWLHV PHDVXUHG DW IDLU YDOXH WKURXJK SURILW RU ORVV (F97PL)
The CRmSan\ inclXdeV in WhiV caWegRU\ nRWeV Zhich aUe deVignaWed aW FVTPL aW iniWial UecRgniWiRn WR eliminaWe RU
VignificanWl\ UedXce a meaVXUemenW RU UecRgniWiRn incRnViVWenc\ WhaW ZRXld RWheUZiVe aUiVe fURm meaVXUing aVVeWV RU
liabiliWieV RU UecRgniVing Whe gainV and lRVVeV Rn Whem Rn diffeUenW baVeV.

FLQDQFLDO DVVHWV PHDVXUHG DW DPRUWLVHG FRVW
A financial inVWUXmenW iV meaVXUed aW amRUWiVed cRVW if iW iV held ZiWhin a bXVineVV mRdel ZhRVe RbjecWiYe iV WR hRld financial
aVVeWV in RUdeU WR cRllecW cRnWUacWXal caVh flRZV and iWV cRnWUacWXal WeUmV giYe UiVe Rn VSecified daWeV WR caVh flRZV WhaW aUe
VRlel\ Sa\menWV Rf SUinciSal and inWeUeVW Rn Whe SUinciSal amRXnW RXWVWanding. The CRmSan\ inclXdeV in WhiV caWegRU\ WUade
and RWheU UeceiYableV, and caVh and caVh eTXiYalenWV.

FLQDQFLDO DVVHWV PHDVXUHG DW IDLU YDOXH WKURXJK SURILW RU ORVV (F97PL)
BXVLQHVV PRGHO DVVHVVPHQW 
In making an aVVeVVmenW Rf Whe RbjecWiYe Rf Whe bXVineVV mRdel in Zhich a financial aVVeW iV held, Whe CRmSan\ cRnVideUV all
Rf Whe UeleYanW infRUmaWiRn abRXW hRZ Whe bXVineVV iV managed, inclXding:

Financial aVVeWV and financial liabiliWieV aW FVTPL aUe iniWiall\ UecRUded in Whe VWaWemenW Rf financial SRViWiRn aW faiU YalXe. All
WUanVacWiRn cRVWV fRU VXch inVWUXmenWV aUe UecRgniVed diUecWl\ in SURfiW RU lRVV.
Financial aVVeWV and liabiliWieV (RWheU Whan WhRVe claVVified aV aW FVTPL) aUe meaVXUed iniWiall\ aW WheiU faiU YalXe SlXV an\
diUecWl\ aWWUibXWable incUemenWal cRVWV Rf acTXiViWiRn RU iVVXe.
In accRUdance ZiWh IFRS 9, Whe CRmSan\ claVVifieV iWV financial aVVeWV and financial liabiliWieV aW iniWial UecRgniWiRn inWR Whe
caWegRUieV Rf financial aVVeWV and financial liabiliWieV diVcXVVed belRZ.

FLQDQFLDO DVVHWV
The CRmSan\ claVVifieV iWV financial aVVeWV aV VXbVeTXenWl\ meaVXUed aW amRUWiVed cRVW RU meaVXUed aW faiU YalXe WhURXgh
SURfiW RU lRVV Rn Whe baViV Rf bRWh:

� The enWiW\'V bXVineVV mRdel fRU managing Whe financial aVVeWV; and
� The cRnWUacWXal caVh flRZ chaUacWeUiVWicV Rf Whe financial aVVeW.

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019

� hRZ WiVeAlSha TechnRlRgieV LimiWed ( Whe "InYeVWmenW AdYiVRU" RU Whe "AUUangeU") iV cRmSenVaWed: e.g. ZheWheU
cRmSenVaWiRn iV baVed Rn Whe faiU YalXe Rf Whe aVVeWV managed RU Whe cRnWUacWXal caVh flRZV cRllecWed; and Whe fUeTXenc\,
YRlXme and Wiming Rf ValeV Rf financial aVVeWV in SUiRU SeUiRdV, Whe UeaVRnV fRU VXch ValeV and e[SecWaWiRnV abRXW fXWXUe ValeV
acWiYiW\.

IQLWLDO PHDVXUHPHQW

� Whe dRcXmenWed inYeVWmenW VWUaWeg\ and Whe e[ecXWiRn Rf WhiV VWUaWeg\ in SUacWice. ThiV inclXdeV ZheWheU Whe inYeVWmenW
VWUaWeg\ fRcXVeV Rn eaUning cRnWUacWXal inWeUeVW incRme, mainWaining a SaUWicXlaU inWeUeVW UaWe SURfile, maWching Whe dXUaWiRn Rf
Whe financial aVVeWV WR Whe dXUaWiRn Rf an\ UelaWed liabiliWieV RU e[SecWed caVh RXWflRZV RU UealiVing caVh flRZV WhURXgh Whe Vale
Rf Whe aVVeWV;
� hRZ Whe SeUfRUmance Rf Whe SRUWfRliR iV eYalXaWed and UeSRUWed WR Whe CRmSan\'V managemenW;

� Whe UiVkV WhaW affecW Whe SeUfRUmance Rf Whe bXVineVV mRdel (and Whe financial aVVeWV held ZiWhin WhaW bXVineVV mRdel) and
hRZ WhRVe UiVkV aUe managed;
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (CONTINUED)

Financial inVWrXmenWV (conWinXed)

APRUWLVHG FRVW PHDVXUHPHQW
The 'amRUWiVed cRVW' Rf a financial aVVeW RU financial liabiliW\ iV Whe amRXnW aW Zhich Whe financial aVVeW RU financial liabiliW\ iV 
meaVXUed Rn iniWial UecRgniWiRn minXV Whe SUinciSal UeSa\menWV, SlXV RU minXV Whe cXmXlaWiYe amRUWiVaWiRn XVing Whe effecWiYe 
inWeUeVW meWhRd Rf an\ diffeUence beWZeen WhaW iniWial amRXnW and Whe maWXUiW\ amRXnW and, fRU financial aVVeWV, adjXVWed fRU 
an\ lRVV allRZance.

FLQDQFLDO OLDELOLWLHV PHDVXUHG DW DPRUWLVHG FRVW
ThiV caWegRU\ inclXdeV all financial liabiliWieV, RWheU Whan WhRVe meaVXUed aW faiU YalXe WhURXgh SURfiW RU lRVV. The CRmSan\
inclXdeV in WhiV caWegRU\ WUade and RWheU Sa\ableV.

6XEVHTXHQW MHDVXUHPHQW RI ILQDQFLDO DVVHWV
AfWeU iniWial meaVXUemenW, Whe CRmSan\ meaVXUeV financial inVWUXmenWV Zhich aUe claVVified aV aW faiU YalXe WhURXgh SURfiW RU
lRVV aW WheiU faiU YalXe. SXbVeTXenW changeV in Whe faiU YalXe Rf financial inVWUXmenWV aW faiU YalXe WhURXgh SURfiW RU lRVV aUe
UecRgniVed in Whe SWaWemenW Rf cRmSUehenViYe incRme.

FRU financial aVVeWV aW amRUWiVed cRVW, WheVe aVVeWV aUe VXbVeTXenWl\ meaVXUed aW amRUWiVed cRVW XVing Whe effecWiYe inWeUeVW
meWhRd. 

Financial liabiliWieV aW FVTPL aUe meaVXUed aW faiU YalXe and neW gainV and lRVVeV, inclXding an\ cRXSRn e[SenVe, aUe
UecRgniVed in SURfiW RU lRVV. OWheU financial liabiliWieV aUe VXbVeTXenWl\ meaVXUed aW amRUWiVed cRVW XVing Whe effecWiYe inWeUeVW
meWhRd. The CRmSan\ inclXdeV in WhiV caWegRU\: WUade and and RWheU Sa\ableV.

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019

MHDVXUHPHQWV
FDLU YDOXH PHDVXUHPHQW SULQFLSOHV
FaiU YalXe iV Whe SUice WhaW ZRXld be UeceiYed WR Vell an aVVeW RU Said WR WUanVfeU a liabiliW\ in an RUdeUl\ WUanVacWiRn beWZeen
maUkeW SaUWiciSanWV aW Whe meaVXUemenW daWe in Whe SUinciSal RU, in iWV abVence, Whe mRVW adYanWageRXV maUkeW WR Zhich Whe
CRmSan\ haV acceVV aW WhaW daWe. 

The CRmSan\'V financial inVWUXmenWV caUUied aW faiU YalXe aUe anal\Ved belRZ b\ YalXaWiRn meWhRd. The diffeUenW leYelV haYe
been defined aV fRllRZV:
� LeYel 1: TXRWed SUiceV (XnadjXVWed) in acWiYe maUkeWV fRU idenWical aVVeWV RU liabiliWieV.
� LeYel 2: inSXWV RWheU Whan TXRWed SUiceV inclXded ZiWhin LeYel 1 WhaW aUe RbVeUYable fRU Whe aVVeW RU liabiliW\, eiWheU diUecWl\
(i.e. aV SUiceV) RU indiUecWl\ (i.e. deUiYed fURm SUiceV).
� LeYel 3: inSXWV fRU Whe aVVeW RU liabiliW\ WhaW aUe nRW baVed Rn RbVeUYable maUkeW daWa (XnRbVeUYable inSXWV).

The faiU YalXe Rf a financial inVWUXmenW iV baVed Rn WheiU TXRWed maUkeW SUiceV Rn a UecRgniVed e[change RU VRXUced fURm a
UeSXWable bURkeU/cRXnWeUSaUW\, in Whe caVe Rf nRn-e[change WUaded inVWUXmenWV, aW Whe UeSRUWing daWe ZiWhRXW an\ dedXcWiRn fRU
eVWimaWed fXWXUe Velling cRVWV.

If a TXRWed maUkeW SUice iV nRW aYailable Rn a UecRgniVed VWRck e[change RU fURm a UeSXWable BURkeU RU cRXnWeUSaUW\, Whe faiU
YalXe Rf Whe financial inVWUXmenW iV deWeUmined b\ Whe DiUecWRUV XVing eVWimaWeV SURYided b\ GlRbal PUime PaUWneUV LimiWed (
Whe "CXVWRdian" RU "GPP"). The CXVWRdian eVWimaWeV ma\ be baVed Rn TXRWaWiRnV fURm VSecialiVW SUicing YendRUV, XVe Rf
UecenW aUm'V lengWh maUkeW WUanVacWiRnV, UefeUence WR Whe cXUUenW faiU YalXe Rf anRWheU inVWUXmenW WhaW iV VXbVWanWiall\ Whe Vame,
diVcRXnWed caVh flRZ WechniTXeV, RSWiRn SUicing mRdelV RU an\ RWheU YalXaWiRn WechniTXe WhaW SURYideV a Ueliable eVWimaWe Rf
SUiceV RbWained in acWXal maUkeW WUanVacWiRnV.

The faiU YalXe Rf nRWeV deVignaWed aW faiU YalXe WhURXgh SURfiW RU lRVV iV deWeUmined b\ UefeUence WR Whe faiU YalXe Rf Whe
aVVRciaWed inYeVWmenWV aW faiU YalXe WhURXgh SURfiW RU lRVV and Whe VXndU\ UeceiYableV and Sa\ableV held b\ Whe CRmSan\.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (CONTINUED)

Financial inVWrXmenWV (conWinXed)

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019

The CRmSan\ UecRgniVeV lRVV allRZanceV fRU ECLV ("e[SecWed cUediW lRVVeV") Rn financial aVVeWV meaVXUed aW amRUWiVed cRVW.
CUediW lRVVeV aUe meaVXUed aV Whe SUeVenW YalXe Rf all caVh VhRUWfallV (i.e. Whe diffeUence beWZeen Whe caVh flRZV dXe WR Whe
enWiW\ in accRUdance ZiWh Whe cRnWUacW and Whe caVh flRZV WhaW Whe CRmSan\ e[SecWV WR UeceiYe).

UndeU IFRS 9, lRVV allRZanceV aUe meaVXUed Rn eiWheU Rf Whe fRllRZing baViV: 12-mRnWh ECLV WhaW UeVXlW fURm SRVVible defaXlW
eYenWV ZiWhin Whe 12 mRnWhV afWeU Whe UeSRUWing daWe; and lifeWime ECLV WhaW UeVXlW fURm all SRVVible defaXlW eYenWV RYeU Whe
e[SecWed life Rf a financial inVWUXmenW. FRU RWheU UeceiYableV, Whe CRmSan\ meaVXUeV lRVV allRZanceV aSSl\ing a VimSlified
aSSURach aW an amRXnW eTXal WR 12-mRnWh ECLV. 

CDVK DQG FDVK HTXLYDOHQWV 
The CRmSan\ haV deWeUmined WhaW Whe aSSlicaWiRn Rf IFRS 9'V e[SecWed cUediW lRVV UeVXlWV in an immaWeUial SURYiViRn Rn Whe
caVh and caVh eTXiYalenWV. The CRmSan\ cRnVideUV caVh and caVh eTXiYalenWV WR haYe lRZ cUediW UiVk baVed Rn Whe e[WeUnal
cUediW UaWingV Rf Whe cRXnWeUSaUW\. 

OWKHU UHFHLYDEOHV 
The CRmSan\ haV deWeUmined WhaW Whe aSSlicaWiRn Rf IFRS 9'V e[SecWed cUediW lRVV Rn RWheU UeceiYableV UeVXlWV in an
immaWeUial imSaiUmenW Rn RWheU UeceiYableV. OWheU UeceiYableV aUe VhRUW-WeUm in naWXUe and UelaWe WR amRXnWV RZed b\
UeSXWable cRXnWeUSaUWieV.

DHUHFRJQLWLRQ
The CRmSan\ deUecRgniVeV a financial aVVeW Zhen Whe cRnWUacWXal UighWV WR Whe caVh flRZV fURm Whe aVVeW e[SiUe, RU iW WUanVfeUV
Whe UighWV WR UeceiYe Whe cRnWUacWXal caVh flRZV Rn Whe financial aVVeW in a WUanVacWiRn in Zhich VXbVWanWiall\ all Whe UiVkV and
UeZaUdV Rf RZneUVhiS Rf Whe financial aVVeW aUe WUanVfeUUed. An\ inWeUeVW in WUanVfeUUed financial aVVeWV WhaW iV cUeaWed RU
UeWained b\ Whe CRmSan\ iV UecRgniVed aV a VeSaUaWe aVVeW RU liabiliW\.

The CRmSan\ deUecRgniVeV a financial liabiliW\ Zhen iWV cRnWUacWXal RbligaWiRnV aUe diVchaUged, cancelled RU e[SiUe.

OIIVHWWLQJ
Financial aVVeWV and liabiliWieV aUe RffVeW and Whe neW amRXnW SUeVenWed in Whe SWaWemenW Rf financial SRViWiRn Zhen, and Rnl\
Zhen, Whe CRmSan\ haV a legal UighW WR RffVeW Whe amRXnWV and inWendV eiWheU WR VeWWle Rn a neW baViV RU WR UealiVe Whe aVVeW and
VeWWle Whe liabiliW\ VimXlWaneRXVl\. IncRme and e[SenVeV aUe SUeVenWed Rn a neW baViV Rnl\ Zhen SeUmiWWed b\ Whe accRXnWing
VWandaUdV, RU fRU gainV and lRVVeV aUiVing fURm a gURXS Rf VimilaU WUanVacWiRnV.

FLQDQFLDO OLDELOLW\ DQG HTXLW\ 
The financial inVWUXmenWV iVVXed b\ Whe CRmSan\ aUe WUeaWed aV eTXiW\ (i.e. fRUming SaUW Rf VhaUehRldeU'V fXndV) Rnl\ WR Whe
e[WenW WhaW Whe\ meeW Whe fRllRZing WZR cRndiWiRnV:
� Whe\ inclXde nR cRnWUacWXal RbligaWiRnV XSRn Whe CRmSan\ WR deliYeU caVh RU RWheU financial aVVeWV RU WR e[change financial
aVVeWV RU financial liabiliWieV ZiWh anRWheU SaUW\ XndeU cRndiWiRnV WhaW aUe SRWenWiall\ XnfaYRXUable WR Whe CRmSan\; and
� ZheUe Whe inVWUXmenW Zill RU ma\ be VeWWled in Whe CRmSan\'V RZn eTXiW\ inVWUXmenWV, iW iV eiWheU a nRn-deUiYaWiYe WhaW
inclXdeV nR RbligaWiRn WR deliYeU a YaUiable nXmbeU Rf Whe CRmSan\'V RZn eTXiW\ inVWUXmenWV RU iV a deUiYaWiYe WhaW Zill be
VeWWled b\ Whe CRmSan\'V e[changing a fi[ed amRXnW Rf caVh RU RWheU financial aVVeWV fRU a fi[ed nXmbeU Rf iWV RZn eTXiW\
inVWUXmenWV.

TR Whe e[WenW WhaW WheVe cRndiWiRnV aUe nRW meW, Whe SURceedV Rf iVVXe aUe claVVified aV a financial liabiliW\. 

Finance Sa\menWV aVVRciaWed ZiWh financial liabiliWieV aUe dealW ZiWh aV SaUW Rf Whe RngRing UemeaVXUemenW Rf debW VecXUiWieV WR
faiU YalXe. Finance Sa\menWV aVVRciaWed ZiWh financial inVWUXmenWV WhaW aUe claVVified in eTXiW\ aUe diVWUibXWiRnV fURm Whe neW
incRme aWWUibXWable WR eTXiW\- hRldeUV and aUe UecRUded diUecWl\ in eTXiW\. The CRmSan\'V debW VecXUiWieV iVVXed aUe claVVified
aV liabiliWieV.
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NeW gain on financial aVVeWV aW FVTPL
NeW gain Rn financial aVVeWV aW FVTPL UelaWeV WR inYeVWmenWV in VecXUiWieV and inclXdeV UealiVed and XnUealiVed faiU YalXe
changeV and cRXSRn incRme.

NeW loVV on financial liabiliWieV aW FVTPL
NeW lRVV Rn financial liabiliWieV aW FVTPL cRmSUiVeV Rf cRXSRn Sa\menWV, UealiVed and XnUealiVed faiU YalXe changeV aUiVing Rn
Whe financial liabiliWieV.

DefeUUed Wa[ iV SURYided Rn all Wiming diffeUenceV WhaW haYe RUiginaWed bXW nRW UeYeUVed aW Whe UeSRUWing daWe, ZheUe
WUanVacWiRnV RU eYenWV WhaW UeVXlW in an RbligaWiRn WR Sa\ mRUe Wa[ in Whe fXWXUe RU a UighW WR Sa\ leVV Wa[ in Whe fXWXUe haYe
RccXUUed aW Whe UeSRUWing daWe. Timing diffeUenceV aUe WemSRUaU\ diffeUenceV beWZeen SURfiWV aV cRmSXWed fRU Wa[ SXUSRVeV and
SURfiWV aV VWaWed in Whe financial VWaWemenWV, Zhich aUiVe becaXVe ceUWain iWemV Rf incRme and e[SendiWXUe in Whe financial
VWaWemenWV aUe dealW ZiWh in diffeUenW \eaUV fRU Wa[ SXUSRVeV. DefeUUed Wa[ iV meaVXUed aW Whe Wa[ UaWeV WhaW aUe e[SecWed WR
aSSl\ in Whe \eaUV, in Zhich Whe Wiming diffeUenceV aUe e[SecWed WR UeYeUVe baVed Rn Wa[ UaWeV and leYieV WhaW haYe been enacWed
RU VXbVWanWiYel\ enacWed aW Whe UeSRUWing daWe. DefeUUed Wa[ iV nRW diVcRXnWed.

Share capiWal preVenWed aV eqXiW\
OUdinaU\ VhaUeV aUe nRW Uedeemable and aUe claVVified aV eTXiW\ in accRUdance ZiWh IAS 32. OUdinaU\ VhaUeV enWiWle Whe hRldeUV
WR UeceiYe nRWice Rf, and YRWe aW, an\ geneUal meeWing Rf Whe CRmSan\, WR RUdinaU\ diYidendV aV ma\ be declaUed b\ Whe
DiUecWRUV fURm Wime WR Wime and WR SaUWiciSaWe in Whe Zinding XS Rf Whe CRmSan\. NR diYidend Vhall e[ceed Whe amRXnW
UecRmmended b\ Whe DiUecWRUV. DiYidendV aUe UecRgniVed aV a liabiliW\ in Whe SeUiRd in Zhich Whe\ aUe aSSURYed. The VhaUeV
fRUming Whe caSiWal ma\ be incUeaVed RU UedXced and be diYided inWR VXch claVVeV and iVVXed ZiWh an\ VSecial UighWV, SUiYilegeV 
and cRndiWiRnV aV VeW RXW in Whe CRnVWiWXWiRn. 

Ta[ Rn Whe SURfiW RU lRVV fRU Whe SeUiRd cRmSUiVeV Rf cXUUenW and defeUUed Wa[.

The Wa[ e[SenVe UeSUeVenWV Whe VXm Rf Whe Wa[ cXUUenWl\ Sa\able. The Wa[ cXUUenWl\ Sa\able iV baVed Rn Wa[able SURfiW fRU Whe
SeUiRd aV calcXlaWed in accRUdance ZiWh IUiVh Ta[ LaZV. Ta[able SURfiW ma\ diffeU fURm SURfiW befRUe Wa[ aV UeSRUWed in Whe
SWaWemenW Rf CRmSUehenViYe IncRme becaXVe iW e[clXdeV iWemV Rf incRme RU e[SenVe WhaW aUe nRW Wa[able RU dedXcWible. The
CRmSan\'V liabiliW\ fRU cXUUenW Wa[ iV calcXlaWed XVing Wa[ UaWeV and laZV WhaW haYe been enacWed RU VXbVWanWiYel\ enacWed aW Whe
end Rf Whe UeSRUWing SeUiRd daWe.

Ta[aWion
CRUSRUaWiRn Wa[ iV SURYided Rn Wa[able SURfiWV aW cXUUenW UaWeV aSSlicable WR Whe CRmSan\'V acWiYiWieV. The CRmSan\ iV an
IUiVh Wa[ UeVidenW SecWiRn 110 TXalif\ing cRmSan\ and iV WheUefRUe VXbjecW WR cRUSRUaWiRn Wa[ in IUeland aW 25% Rf iWV incRme.

FRU Whe SXUSRVeV Rf WheVe financial VWaWemenWV, caVh cRmSUiVeV caVh Rn hand and demand deSRViWV Zhile caVh eTXiYalenWV aUe
VhRUW WeUm, highl\ liTXid inYeVWmenWV ZiWh RUiginal maWXUiWieV Rf WhUee mRnWhV RU leVV WhaW aUe Ueadil\ cRnYeUWible WR knRZn
amRXnWV Rf caVh and Zhich aUe VXbjecW WR inVignificanW changeV in YalXe.

OWher income and e[penVe

OWheU incRme and e[SenVe iV UecRgniVed in Whe SWaWemenW Rf CRmSUehenViYe IncRme Rn an accUXal baViV.

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019

CaVh and caVh eqXiYalenWV
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3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 31-Dec-19
�

CaVh aW bank 181,981
181,981

4. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 31-Dec-19
�

OWheU UeceiYableV 2,025
ReimbXUVemenW Rf e[SenVeV 71,277

73,302

5. INVESTMENTS AT FVTPL 31-Dec-19
�

Balance aW Whe beginning Rf Whe financial SeUiRd - 
InYeVWmenWV aW FVTPL WUanVfeUUed WR Whe CRmSan\ 21,225,049
PXUchaVeV Rf inYeVWmenWV aW FVTPL 2,259,848
AccUXed cRXSRn Rn inYeVWmenWV aW FVTPL 228,118
FaiU YalXe mRYemenW 490,403
Balance aW Whe end Rf Whe financial SeUiRd 24,203,418

MaWXriW\ anal\ViV of inYeVWmenWV aW FVTPL 31-Dec-19
�

DXe ZiWhin 1 \eaU 94,781
DXe ZiWhin 1-2 \eaUV 2,550,490
DXe ZiWhin 2-5 \eaUV 13,464,178
GUeaWeU Whan 5 \eaUV 8,093,969

24,203,418

CaVh and caVh eTXiYalenWV Rf Whe CRmSan\ aUe held b\ NaWiRnal WeVWminVWeU Bank PLC ("NaWZeVW") and LlR\dV Bank PLC
and The Bank Rf NeZ YRUk MellRn BUXVVelV, Rn behalf Rf GPP. AV aW 31 DecembeU 2019, Whe MRRd\¶V cUediW UaWing Rf
NaWZeVW Bank ZaV P-1, LlR\dV' cUediW UaWing ZaV P-1 and BNY MellRn'V cUediW UaWing ZaV P-1. 

AV aW 31 DecembeU 2019, Whe caVh balance ZaV cRmSUiVed Rf ¼102,605 and �94,617.

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019

TUade and RWheU UeceiYableV aUe VhRUW-WeUm in naWXUe and UelaWe WR RWheU incRme UeceiYable. GiYen Whe VhRUW WeUm maWXUiWieV,
WheUe iV nR ECLV UecRUded aV managemenW cRnVideUV ECL SURYiViRn WR be immaWeUial. 

The CRmSan\ iV UeimbXUVed b\ Whe AUUangeU fRU all Whe e[SenVeV incXUUed, aV SeU Whe "FeeV and E[SenVeV AgUeemenW" daWed
Rn 29 OcWRbeU 2019. ThiV AgUeemenW inclXdeV Whe WeUmV and cRndiWiRnV ZiWh UegaUdV Whe Sa\menW Rf ceUWain feeV, cRVWV and
e[SenVeV incXUUed b\ Whe CRmSan\ in cRnnecWiRn ZiWh Whe iVVXance Rf Whe NRWeV, and Whe da\-WR-da\ feeV, cRVWV and e[SenVeV
aVVRciaWed ZiWh mainWaining Whe CRmSan\.  

DXUing Whe financial SeUiRd, Whe CRmSan\ acTXiUed inYeVWmenWV and nRWeV in a nRn caVh WUanVacWiRn, fURm WiVeAlSha
LimiWed, Rf �21,225,049 in accRUdance ZiWh Whe Deed Rf SXbVWiWXWiRn.    

The DiUecWRUV haYe engaged Whe InYeVWmenW AdYiVRU WR SURYide inYeVWmenW managemenW VeUYiceV, haYing aSSURSUiaWe
UecRgniVed SURfeVViRnal TXalificaWiRn and UecenW e[SeUience in Whe maUkeW in Zhich Whe inYeVWmenW VecXUiWieV being managed
and YalXed aUe WUaded, WR YalXe Whe SRUWfRliR aW 31 DecembeU 2019 aV SaUW Rf iWV InYeVWmenW AdYiVRU\ and InWeUmediaWiRn
AgUeemenW. 

The eVWimaWe Rf Whe inYeVWmenW VecXUiWieV YalXe SURYided b\ Whe CXVWRdian haV been SUeSaUed in accRUdance ZiWh WheiU
RbligaWiRnV XndeU Whe TUanVacWiRn DRcXmenWV. The CXVWRdian SUiceV Whe SRUWfRliR XVing IDC.

The inYeVWmenWV Zhich cRnViVW Rf VeniRU VecXUed and XnVecXUed high \ield bRndV aUe YalXed b\ Whe CXVWRdian XVing daWa fURm
Whe acWiYe maUkeW. The bRndV haYe a YaUied maWXUiW\ SURfile, nRWe 16 (ii) SURYideV an RYeUYieZ Rf Whe maWXUiW\ Rf Whe
inYeVWmenWV. 

The caUU\ing YalXe Rf Whe aVVeWV Rf Whe CRmSan\ UeSUeVenWV WheiU ma[imXm e[SRVXUe WR cUediW UiVk.

The aVVeWV held b\ Whe CRmSan\ aUe Sledged aV VecXUiW\ fRU Whe NRWeV iVVXed. PleaVe UefeU NRWe 16 fRU mRUe deWailV Rn Whe
SRUWfRliR.
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6. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 31-Dec-19
�

AccUXed aXdiW fee           24,069 
AccUXed Wa[ cRmSliance fee             5,232 
CRUSRUaWiRn Wa[ Sa\able                  42 
DiUecWRUV' feeV             4,720 
AccUXed cRUSRUaWe VeUYice fee           17,698 
UnVeWWled WUadeV           45,142 
Pa\ableV WR UelaWed SaUWieV           10,233 
OWheU Sa\ableV             4,965 

112,101

7. NOTES AT FVTPL 31-Dec-19
�

Balance aW Whe beginning Rf Whe financial SeUiRd - 
TUanVfeU Rf NRWeV aW FVTPL WR Whe CRmSan\ 21,225,049
IVVXe dXUing Whe SeUiRd 2,259,848
AccUXed cRXSRn Rn nRWeV aW FVTPL 228,118
FaiU YalXe mRYemenW 490,403
Balance aW Whe end Rf Whe financial SeUiRd 24,203,418

MaWXriW\ anal\ViV of noWeV aW FVTPL 31-Dec-19
�

DXe ZiWhin 1 \eaU 94,781
DXe ZiWhin 1-2 \eaUV 2,550,490
DXe ZiWhin 2-5 \eaUV 13,464,178
GUeaWeU Whan 5 \eaUV 8,093,969

24,203,418

All accUXed e[SenVeV aUe dXe ZiWhin Rne \eaU.

DXUing Whe financial SeUiRd, Whe CRmSan\ acTXiUed inYeVWmenWV and nRWeV in a nRn caVh WUanVacWiRn, fURm WiVeAlSha
LimiWed, Rf �21,225,049 in accRUdance ZiWh Whe Deed Rf SXbVWiWXWiRn.    

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019

The NRWeV aUe limiWed UecRXUVe and nRn-SeWiWiRn in naWXUe. The NRWeV iVVXed b\ Whe CRmSan\ haYe a maWXUiW\ Rf fiYe bXVineVV
da\V afWeU Whe maWXUiW\ daWe Rf Whe inYeVWmenW Whe\ UelaWe WR.

NRWeV iVVXed aUe limiWed UecRXUVe debW RbligaWiRnV Zhich aUe Sa\able VRlel\ RXW Rf amRXnWV UeceiYed b\ RU Rn behalf Rf Whe 
CRmSan\ in UeVSecW Rf Whe inYeVWmenWV VecXUing Whe NRWeV.

LLPLWHG UHFRXUVH RI NRWHV LVVXHG 
If Whe neW SURceedV Rf UealiVaWiRn Rf Whe aVVeWV VecXUed againVW Whe NRWeV aUe leVV Whan Whe aggUegaWe amRXnW Sa\able b\ Whe
CRmSan\ WR Whe nRWehRldeUV, Whe RbligaWiRnV Rf Whe CRmSan\ Zill be limiWed WR VXch neW SURceedV, Zhich Vhall be aSSlied in
accRUdance ZiWh Whe NRWeV iVVXance agUeemenW.

In VXch ciUcXmVWanceV, Whe RWheU aVVeWV Rf Whe CRmSan\ Zill nRW be aYailable fRU Sa\menW Rf VXch VhRUWfall Zhich Vhall be
bRUne b\ Whe nRWehRldeUV in accRUdance ZiWh Whe NRWeV iVVXance agUeemenW aSSlied aW Whe Wime Rf final VeWWlemenW. 

CRXSRn e[SenVe WR Whe nRWehRldeUV iV baVed Rn Whe cRXSRn incRme UeceiYed b\ Whe CRmSan\. AV WhiV iV a limiWed UecRXUVe
WUanVacWiRn, Whe UeWXUn Rf cRXSRn and SUinciSal WR Whe nRWehRldeUV iV cRnWingenW Rn Whe UealiVable YalXe Rf Whe inYeVWmenWV. The
UeWXUnV made WR Whe nRWehRldeUV RYeU Whe life Rf Whe CRmSan\ ZRXld deSend Rn Whe cRXSRn incRme eaUned b\ Whe CRmSan\. AW 
each UeSRUWing daWe, Zhen Whe UeVXlWV Rf RSeUaWiRnV aUe cRmSXWed, WhiV gain RU lRVV iV UecRgniVed in Whe SWaWemenW Rf
CRmSUehenViYe IncRme and added WR RU VeW Rff againVW Whe SUinciSal amRXnWV.
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8. SHARE CAPITAL PRESENTED AS EQUITY 31-Dec-19
�

AXWhRUiVed:
100,000,000 OUdinaU\ ShaUeV Rf �1 each 100,000,000
100,000,000 OUdinaU\ ShaUeV Rf ¼1 each 85,080,000

185,080,000
31-Dec-19

AllRWWed, called XS and Said �
100,000 RUdinaU\ VhaUeV iVVXed aW �1 each 100,000
50,000 RUdinaU\ VhaUeV iVVXed aW ¼1 each 43,057

143,057

9. NET GAIN ON INVESTMENTS AT FVTPL

�
545,295

FaiU YalXe mRYemenW Rn inYeVWmenWV aW FVTPL 490,403
1,035,698

10. NET LOSS ON NOTES AT FVTPL

�
545,295

FaiU YalXe mRYemenW Rn NRWeV aW FVTPL 490,403
1,035,698

11. OTHER INCOME

�
71,277

2,414
73,691

ReimbXUVemenW Rf e[SenVeV

The VhaUeV ZeUe iVVXed WR IQEQ NRmineeV (IUeland) LimiWed. 
On 16 SeSWembeU 2019, a UeVRlXWiRn ZaV SaVVed WR incUeaVe Whe aXWhRUiVed VhaUe caSiWal Rf Whe CRmSan\ fURm �100,000,000,
WR �100,000,000 and ¼100,000,000.

CRXSRn e[SenVe 

CRXSRn incRme

CRXSRn incRme iV geneUaWed fURm cRXSRn eaUned Rn Whe inYeVWmenWV.

OWheU incRme 

Financial period from 22 
Ma\ 2019 Wo 31 December 

2019

Financial period from 22 
Ma\ 2019 Wo 31 December 

2019

Financial period from 22 
Ma\ 2019 Wo 31 December 

2019

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019

The CRmSan\ iV UeimbXUVed b\ Whe AUUangeU fRU all Whe e[SenVeV incXUUed, aV SeU Whe "FeeV and E[SenVeV AgUeemenW" daWed
Rn 29 OcWRbeU 2019. ThiV AgUeemenW inclXdeV Whe WeUmV and cRndiWiRnV ZiWh UegaUdV Whe Sa\menW Rf ceUWain feeV, cRVWV and
e[SenVeV incXUUed b\ Whe CRmSan\ in cRnnecWiRn ZiWh Whe iVVXance Rf Whe NRWeV, and Whe da\-WR-da\ feeV, cRVWV and e[SenVeV
aVVRciaWed ZiWh mainWaining Whe CRmSan\. 
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12. OTHER EXPENSES

�
24,069

5,232
17,698

Bank chaUgeV 8,219
AUUangeU / InYeVWmenW AdYiVRU feeV 10,233
FRUeign e[change lRVV 1,106
DiUecWRUV' feeV 4,720
OWheU e[SenVeV 2,247

73,524

AXdiWor'V remXneraWion (e[clXding VAT) �
          19,568 
            4,254 

 - 
 - 

23,822
13. EMPLOYEES

14. DIRECTORS' FEES

DirecWorV¶ remXneraWion (inclXding perVonV connecWed ZiWh DirecWorV) �
EmRlXmenWV 4,720
GainV Rn Whe e[eUciVe Rf ceUWain VhaUe RSWiRnV - 
AmRXnWV UeceiYable XndeU lRng-WeUm incenWiYe VchemeV - 
CRQWULEXWLRQV WR SHQVLRQ VFKHPHV: 
Defined cRnWUibXWiRn VchemeV - 
Defined benefiW VchemeV - 
CRPSHQVDWLRQ IRU ORVV RI RIILFH RU RWKHU WHUPLQDWLRQ EHQHILWV:
Paid b\/UeceiYable fURm CRmSan\ - 
Paid b\/UeceiYable fURm VXbVidiaU\ XndeUWakingV - 
Paid b\/UeceiYable fURm hRlding XndeUWaking - 
Paid b\/UeceiYable fURm an\ RWheU SeUVRn - 

4,720
15. CORPORATION TAX CHARGE

�
CRUSRUaWiRn Wa[ baVed Rn SURfiW fRU Whe financial SeUiRd 42

SWaWXWRU\ aXdiW
Ta[ adYiVRU\ VeUYiceV
OWheU aVVXUance VeUYiceV
OWheU nRn aXdiW VeUYiceV

The CRmSan\ had nR emSlR\eeV dXUing Whe financial SeUiRd ended 31 DecembeU 2019. 

Financial period from 22 
Ma\ 2019 Wo 31 December 

2019

CRUSRUaWe VeUYice fee
Ta[ cRmSliance fee

Financial period from 22 Ma\ 2019 Wo 31 December 2019

AXdiW fee

The DiUecWRUV' UemXneUaWiRn in UeVSecW Rf Whe financial SeUiRd ended 31 DecembeU 2019 ZaV �4,720 (¼5,548).

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019

A UecRnciliaWiRn beWZeen Whe WRWal Wa[ chaUge and Whe Wa[ chaUge WhaW ZRXld UeVXlW fURm aSSl\ing Whe VWandaUd UaWe Rf IUiVh
cRUSRUaWiRn Wa[ WR Whe SURfiW Rn RUdinaU\ acWiYiWieV iV SURYided belRZ:

Financial period from 22 
Ma\ 2019 Wo 31 December 

2019

Financial period from 22 
Ma\ 2019 Wo 31 December 

2019
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15. CORPORATION TAX CHARGE - (CONTINUED)
FacWorV affecWing Whe WoWal Wa[ charge for Whe financial period

�
PURfiW Rn RUdinaU\ acWiYiWieV befRUe Wa[aWiRn 167
PURfiW Rn RUdinaU\ acWiYiWieV mXlWiSlied b\ Whe VWandaUd UaWe Rf IUiVh cRUSRUaWiRn Wa[ Rf 12.5% 21

21
42

16.

CapiWal riVk managemenW

RiVk managemenW frameZork 

The BRaUd Rf DiUecWRUV haV RYeUall UeVSRnVibiliW\ fRU Whe eVWabliVhmenW and RYeUVighW Rf Whe CRmSan\'V UiVk managemenW
fUameZRUk. 
The UiVk SURfile Rf Whe CRmSan\ iV VXch WhaW maUkeW, cUediW, liTXidiW\ and RWheU UiVkV Rf Whe inYeVWmenW VecXUiWieV aUe bRUne
fXll\ b\ Whe nRWehRldeUV. The incRme Sa\menWV WR Whe nRWehRldeUV aUe deWeUmined ZiWh UefeUence WR SUiRUiWieV Rf Sa\menW
VchedXle aV cRnWained in WheiU WeUmV and cRndiWiRnV Rf Whe nRWeV iVVXed. PUinciSal UeSa\menWV aUe alVR deWeUmined ZiWh
UefeUence WR cRndiWiRnV Rf Whe nRWeV iVVXed VchedXle. 

The nRWeV iVVXed aUe iniWiall\ UecRUded aW Whe YalXe Rf Whe neW SURceedV UeceiYed and aUe caUUied aV financial liabiliWieV aW faiU 
YalXe WhURXgh SURfiW RU lRVV. The XlWimaWe amRXnW WR be UeSaid WR Whe nRWehRldeUV Zill deSend Rn Whe SURceedV fURm Whe UelaWed 
cRllaWeUal and Whe UXnning cRVWV Rf Whe CRmSan\, dXe WR Whe limiWed UecRXUVe naWXUe Rf Whe NRWeV in iVVXe. 

(i) MarkeW riVk

MaUkeW UiVk iV Whe UiVk Whe maUkeW SUice Rf a financial inVWUXmenW Zill flXcWXaWe dXe WR changeV in fRUeign e[change UaWeV,
maUkeW facWRUV VSecific WR Whe SaUWicXlaU inVWUXmenW RU iWV iVVXeU RU facWRUV affecWing all inVWUXmenWV WUaded in Whe maUkeW. The
RbjecWiYe Rf maUkeW UiVk managemenW iV WR manage and cRnWURl maUkeW UiVk e[SRVXUeV ZiWhin acceSWable SaUameWeUV, Zhile
RSWimiVing Whe UeWXUn Rn UiVk.

(a) InWereVW raWe riVk

InWeUeVW UaWe UiVk aUiVeV fURm Whe effecWV Rf flXcWXaWiRnV in Whe SUeYailing leYelV Rf maUkeW inWeUeVW UaWeV Rn Whe faiU YalXe Rf
financial aVVeWV and liabiliWieV and fXWXUe caVh flRZV.

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019

HigheU UaWe Wa[ aSSlicable XndeU SecWiRn 110 TCA, 1997
ToWal Wa[ charge for Whe financial period

Financial period from 22 
Ma\ 2019 Wo 31 December 

2019

The CRmSan\ iV a TXalif\ing CRmSan\ ZiWhin Whe meaning Rf SecWiRn 110 Rf Whe Ta[eV CRnVRlidaWiRn AcW, 1997. AV VXch,
SURfiWV aUe chaUgeable WR cRUSRUaWiRn Wa[ XndeU CaVe III Rf SchedXle D aW a UaWe Rf 25% bXW aUe cRmSXWed in accRUdance ZiWh
Whe SURYiViRnV aSSlicable WR CaVe I Rf SchedXle D.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial UiVkV aUe UiVkV aUiVing fURm financial inVWUXmenWV WR Zhich Whe CRmSan\ iV e[SRVed dXUing RU aW Whe end Rf Whe
UeSRUWing SeUiRd. Financial UiVk cRmSUiVeV Rf maUkeW UiVk (inclXding inWeUeVW UaWe UiVk, fRUeign cXUUenc\ UiVk and RWheU SUice
UiVk), cUediW UiVk, liTXidiW\ UiVk and RSeUaWiRnal UiVk. The SUimaU\ RbjecWiYeV Rf Whe financial UiVk managemenW fXncWiRn aUe WR
eVWabliVh UiVk limiWV, and When enVXUe WhaW e[SRVXUe WR UiVkV VWa\V ZiWhin WheVe limiWV. 

The main UiVkV aUiVing fURm Whe CRmSan\'V financial inVWUXmenWV aUe maUkeW UiVk, cUediW UiVk and liTXidiW\ UiVk.

The CRmSan\ manageV iWV caSiWal WR enVXUe WhaW iW iV able WR cRnWinXe aV a gRing cRnceUn Zhile ma[imiVing Whe UeWXUn WR
VWakehRldeUV.

TheUe ZeUe nR changeV WR Whe SRlicieV and SURcedXUeV dXUing Whe financial SeUiRd ZiWh UeVSecW WR Whe CRmSan\¶V aSSURach WR
iWV caSiWal managemenW SURgUam. The CRmSan\ dReV nRW haYe an\ e[WeUnall\ imSRVed caSiWal UeTXiUemenWV.
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16.

2019
Fi[ed raWe FloaWing raWe Non-inWereVW 

bearing
ToWal

� � � �
   22,351,315      1,852,103                   -      24,203,418 
                  -                     -             73,302           73,302 
                  -           181,981                   -           181,981 

   22,351,315      2,034,084           73,302    24,458,701 

                  -      24,203,418                   -      24,203,418 
TUade and RWheU Sa\ableV                   -                     -           112,101         112,101 

                  -      24,203,418         112,101    24,315,519 

NeW aVVeWV on floaWing inWereVW raWe: 31-Dec-19
�

     1,852,103 
        181,981 
(24,203,418) 

NeW aVVeWV (22,169,334) 

6HQVLWLYLW\ DQDO\VLV RQ IQYHVWPHQWV DW F97PL
1% incUeaVe in inWeUeVW UaWe (46)               
1% decUeaVe in inWeUeVW UaWe (39)               

6HQVLWLYLW\ DQDO\VLV RQ FDVK DQG FDVK HTXLYDOHQWV
The inWeUeVW UaWe UiVk fRU caVh iV � nil.

6HQVLWLYLW\ DQDO\VLV RQ NRWHV DW F97PL

NeW aVVeWV on fi[ed inWereVW raWe: 31-Dec-19
�

22,351,315  

1% incUeaVe in inWeUeVW UaWe (790,170)      
1% decUeaVe in inWeUeVW UaWe 849,791       

SenViWiYiW\ anal\ViV

IFRS 7 UeTXiUeV diVclRVXUe Rf a VenViWiYiW\ anal\ViV fRU each W\Se Rf maUkeW UiVk WR Zhich Whe enWiW\ iV e[SRVed aW Whe UeSRUWing
daWe, VhRZing hRZ SURfiW RU lRVV and eTXiW\ ZRXld haYe been affecWed b\ changeV in Whe UeleYanW UiVk YaUiable WhaW ZeUe
UeaVRnabl\ SRVVible aW WhaW daWe. The fRllRZing iV an inWeUeVW UiVk VenViWiYiW\ anal\ViV Rn neW aVVeWV, XndeU flRaWing and fi[ed
inWeUeVW UaWe: 

InYeVWmenWV aW FVTPL

NRWeV aW FVTPL 

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - (CONTINUED)

(i) MarkeW riVk - (conWinXed)

(a) InWereVW raWe riVk - (conWinXed)

The inWeUeVW Rn Whe NRWeV iV deSendenW Rn Whe inWeUeVW fURm Whe InYeVWmenWV aW FVTPL.

The inWeUeVW UaWe UiVk Rf Whe financial aVVeWV iV bRUne b\ Whe nRWehRldeUV and WhXV changeV in inWeUeVW UaWeV haYe nR neW imSacW
Rn Whe eTXiW\ RU Whe UeVXlWV Rf Whe CRmSan\.

InYeVWmenWV aW FVTPL
TUade and RWheU UeceiYableV

CaVh and caVh eTXiYalenWV 

AV aW 31 DecembeU 2019, Whe inWeUeVW UaWe SURfile Rf Whe CRmSan\'V financial aVVeWV and liabiliWieV iV aV fRllRZV:

InYeVWmenWV aW FVTPL

CaVh and caVh eTXiYalenWV 

NRWeV aW FVTPL 
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16.

31-Dec-19
�

          87,364 
     1,344,496 

(1,344,496)   
          87,364 

31-Dec-19
GBP/EUR           1.1754 

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  - (CONTINUED)

NRWeV aW FVTPL 

EUR e[poVXre

(b) Foreign cXrrenc\ riVk

CXUUenc\ UiVk iV Whe UiVk WhaW Whe faiU YalXe Rf fXWXUe caVh flRZV Rf a financial inVWUXmenW Zill flXcWXaWe becaXVe Rf changeV in
fRUeign e[change UaWeV.

All Rf Whe aVVeWV acTXiUed aUe maWched aV WR SUinciSal and cXUUenc\ ZiWh Whe cRUUeVSRnding NRWeV. An\ cRXSRn UeceiYable Rn
Whe inYeVWmenWV and an\ cRXSRn Sa\able Rn Whe NRWeV aUe alVR maWched aV WR cXUUenc\. The CRmSan\ dReV nRW haYe a
maWeUial e[SRVXUe WR fRUeign cXUUenc\ UiVk aV aW 31 DecembeU 2019.

(c) Price riVk 

PUice UiVk iV Whe UiVk WhaW Whe faiU YalXe RU fXWXUe caVh flRZV Rf a financial inVWUXmenW Zill flXcWXaWe becaXVe Rf changeV in
maUkeW SUiceV (RWheU Whan WhRVe aUiVing fURm inWeUeVW UaWe UiVk RU cXUUenc\ UiVk), ZheWheU WhRVe changeV aUe caXVed b\ facWRUV
VSecific WR Whe indiYidXal financial inVWUXmenW RU iWV iVVXeU, RU facWRUV affecWing VimilaU financial inVWUXmenWV WUaded in Whe
maUkeW. 
The NRWeV iVVXed b\ Whe CRmSan\ aUe limiWed UecRXUVe RbligaWiRnV and Whe fXWXUe caVh flRZV fRU Whe NRWeV deSendV Rn Whe
fXWXUe caVh flRZV Rf Whe inYeVWmenW aW FVTPL afWeU dedXcWing Whe caVh RXWflRZV and RWheU liabiliWieV.  

A 5% VWUengWhening in Whe EUR againVW Whe BUiWiVh PRXnd aV aW 31 DecembeU 2019 ZRXld caXVe Whe YalXe Rf Whe CRmSan\¶V
aVVeWV WR decUeaVe b\ �4,368. A 5% Zeakening in Whe EUR ZRXld caXVe Whe YalXe Rf Whe CRmSan\¶V aVVeWV WR incUeaVe b\
�4,368.

The Wable belRZ deWailV Whe CRmSan\¶V fRUeign cXUUenc\ denRminaWed financial aVVeWV and financial liabiliWieV aV aW 31 
DecembeU 2019: 

CaVh and caVh eTXiYalenWV 
InYeVWmenWV aW FVTPL

Foreign e[change raWe (EUR)

(i) MarkeW riVk - (conWinXed)

TRWal e[SRVXUe

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019
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16.

�
5% neW mRYemenW in faiU YalXe Rf aVVeWV      1,210,171 
5% neW mRYemenW in faiU YalXe Rf liabiliWieV (1,210,171)   
NeW e[SRVXUe -               

2019

LeVV Whan 3 
monWhV

3 monWhV Wo 
1 \ear

1 Wo 5 \earV OYer 5 \earV GroVV 
conWracWXal 

caVhfloZV

Carr\ing 
amoXnW 

� � � � � �
NRWeV aW FVTPL          362,249      1,301,255    22,996,375      7,861,600    32,521,479    24,203,418 
TUade and RWheU Sa\ableV - 112,101 - - 112,101 112,101

         362,249      1,413,356    22,996,375      7,861,600    32,633,580    24,315,519 

The WUade and RWheU UeceiYableV iV e[SecWed WR be UeceiYed in leVV Whan 1 \eaU. See nRWe 5 fRU Whe maWXUiW\ anal\ViV Rf
InYeVWmenWV aW FVTPL.

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - (CONTINUED)

(c) Price riVk - (conWinXed)
(i) MarkeW riVk - (conWinXed)

Financial period from 22 
Ma\ 2019 Wo 31 December 

2019

CRnWUacWXal caVh flRZV aUe cRmSUiVed Rf fXWXUe SUinciSal UeSa\menWV Rn nRWeV and SURjecWed fXWXUe cRXSRn Sa\menWV Rn Whe
financial liabiliWieV iVVXed and WUade and RWheU Sa\ableV. CRnWUacWXal caVh flRZV RZed WR Whe nRWehRldeUV aUe Rnl\ cRnWUacWXall\
dXe if mRnieV aUe UeceiYed fURm Whe inYeVWmenWV. The abRYe amRXnWV aUe baVed Rn Whe inWeUeVW UaWeV SUeYailing aW Whe financial
SeUiRd end in UelaWiRn WR Whe InYeVWmenWV WhaW Whe NRWeV UelaWe WR. 

(ii) LiqXidiW\ riVk

LiTXidiW\ UiVk iV UiVk WhaW Whe CRmSan\ Zill encRXnWeU difficXlW\ in meeWing Whe RbligaWiRnV aVVRciaWed ZiWh iWV financial
liabiliWieV WhaW aUe VeWWled b\ deliYeUing caVh, WhXV Whe CRmSan\ Zill nRW be able WR meeW iWV financial RbligaWiRnV aV Whe\ fall
dXe. The abiliW\ Rf Whe CRmSan\ WR meeW iWV RbligaWiRnV XndeU Whe NRWeV iV deSendenW Rn Whe UeceiSW Rf cRXSRn and SUinciSal
fURm iWV InYeVWmenWV. TheUe haV been nR liTXidiW\ iVVXeV e[SeUienced b\ Whe CRmSan\ in UeVSecW Rf meeWing iWV RbligaWiRnV WR
Whe nRWehRldeUV. The CRmSan\ did nRW defaXlW Rn an\ Rf iWV cRnWUacWXal cRmmiWmenWV dXUing Whe financial SeUiRd. The
cRnWUacWed XndiVcRXnWed caVh flRZV Rf all financial liabiliWieV b\ Uemaining cRnWUacWXal maWXUiWieV aV aW 31 DecembeU 2019 iV
aV SeU Whe Wable belRZ. If an eYenW RccXUUed WhaW caXVed Whe eaUl\ maWXUiW\ and WeUminaWiRn Rf Whe NRWeV, When Whe cRnWUacWXal
caVh flRZV ZRXld change accRUdingl\ WR be leVV Whan Rne \eaU. 

6HQVLWLYLW\ DQDO\VLV

An\ changeV in Whe SUiceV Rf Whe financial aVVeWV aW faiU YalXe WhURXgh SURfiW RU lRVV ZRXld nRW haYe an\ effecW Rn Whe eTXiW\ RU
neW SURfiW RU lRVV Rf Whe CRmSan\ aV an\ faiU YalXe flXcWXaWiRnV in SUiceV aUe XlWimaWel\ bRUne b\ Whe nRWehRldeUV. The imSacW
Rf a 5% mRYemenW in Whe maUkeW SUiceV Rf Whe financial aVVeWV ZiWh all RWheU YaUiableV held cRnVWanW aW Whe UeSRUWing daWe Rn
Whe SWaWemenW Rf CRmSUehenViYe IncRme iV VhRZn aV fRllRZV:

AV Whe CRmSan\ haV limiWed UecRXUVe NRWeV iVVXed, all gainV and lRVVeV aUe SaVVed Rn WR Whe nRWehRldeUV ZiWh nR UeVidXal UiVk
Uemaining. The VenViWiYiW\ anal\ViV haV been deWeUmined baVed Rn Whe CRmSan\'V e[SRVXUe WR YaUiable inWeUeVW UaWeV fRU
inWeUeVW beaUing aVVeWV (inclXded in Whe inWeUeVW UaWe e[SRVXUe WableV abRYe) aW Whe UeSRUWing daWe and Whe VWiSXlaWed change
Waking Slace aW Whe beginning Rf Whe financial \eaU and held cRnVWanW WhURXghRXW Whe UeSRUWing financial \eaU in Whe caVe Rf
inVWUXmenWV WhaW haYe flRaWing and fi[ed UaWeV. FRU YaUiable inVWUXmenWV, WhiV anal\ViV aVVXmeV WhaW all RWheU YaUiableV, in
SaUWicXlaU fRUeign cXUUenc\ UaWeV, Uemain cRnVWanW. 
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16.
(iii) CrediW riVk 

31-Dec-19
�

        181,981 
   24,203,418 

73,302         
   24,458,701 

CrediW raWing 31-Dec-19
%

B1                  11 
B2                  10 
B3                  11 
Ba1                    2 
Ba2                    6 
Ba3                    7 
Baa3                    1 
C                    1 
Ca                    2 
Caa1                    9 
Caa2                    5 
Caa3                    4 
WR*                    1 
UnUaWed                  30 

               100 
*RaWing WiWhdUaZn

CUediW UiVk iV Whe UiVk Rf financial lRVV WR Whe CRmSan\ if a cXVWRmeU RU cRXnWeUSaUW\ WR a financial inVWUXmenW failV WR meeW iWV
cRnWUacWXal RbligaWiRnV, and aUiVeV SUinciSall\ fURm Whe CRmSan\¶V financial aVVeWV. The CRmSan\¶V SUinciSal financial aVVeWV
aUe caVh and caVh eTXiYalenWV and inYeVWmenWV aW FVTPL, Zhich UeSUeVenW Whe CRmSan\¶V ma[imXm e[SRVXUe WR cUediW UiVk in
UelaWiRn WR financial aVVeWV. In addiWiRn WR WhiV, an\ lRVV in Whe YalXe Rf Whe inYeVWmenWV iV diUecWl\ aWWUibXWable WR Whe
nRWehRldeUV.  

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - (CONTINUED)

CrediW riVk e[poVXre relaWing Wo financial VWaWemenWV

The cUediW chaUacWeUiVWicV Rf Whe financial aVVeWV in Whe PRUWfRliR aUe meaVXUed, XSdaWed and anal\Ved eYeU\ TXaUWeU, and in
VRme caVeV eYeU\ mRnWh, WR deWeUmine Whe cXUUenW cUediW VWaWXV Rf each financial aVVeW. The InYeVWmenW AdYiVRU and AUUangeU
WUackV Whe cUediW UaWingV fRU Whe financial aVVeWV in Whe PRUWfRliR. The CRmSan\ manageV Whe cUediW UiVk WhURXgh mRniWRUing Rf
Whe cUediW UaWingV Rf Whe cRXnWeUSaUWieV, financial aVVeWV and financial liabiliWieV.

(i)   The MRRd\¶V cUediW UaWing SURfile Rf Whe inYeVWmenW aW FVTPL iV aV fRllRZV:

The e[SRVXUe Rf Whe CRmSan\¶V inYeVWmenWV iV cRnWinXRXVl\ mRniWRUed and Whe DiUecWRUV UeceiYe Whe maUkeW XSdaWe fURm Whe
InYeVWmenW AdYiVRU Rn a UegXlaU baViV. The InYeVWmenW AdYiVRU mRniWRUV Whe cUediW VWaWXV Rf all Rf Whe financial aVVeWV held b\
Whe CRmSan\ and cRmSaUeV WhiV againVW Whe maUkeW YalXeV WhaW cRXld be deUiYed b\ Velling Whe VecXUiWieV. The cUediW
chaUacWeUiVWicV Rf Whe financial aVVeWV in Whe SRUWfRliR aUe meaVXUed, XSdaWed and anal\Ved UegXlaUl\, WR deWeUmine Whe cXUUenW
cUediW VWaWXV Rf each financial aVVeW. 

The Wable belRZ UeSUeVenWV Whe ma[imXm e[SRVXUe WR cUediW UiVk:

CaVh and caVh eTXiYalenWV 
InYeVWmenWV aW FVTPL
TUade and RWheU UeceiYableV
TRWal e[SRVXUe
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16.
(iii) CrediW riVk - (conWinXed)
Financial aVVeWV VpliW b\ claVV 31-Dec-19

�
BRndV    24,203,418 

   24,203,418 

IVVXer SecXriW\ ID

Principal 
balance 

�

Carr\ing 
amoXnW 

�
NeZ LRRk SeniRU IVVXeU PLC XS1248518158         100,000                  10 
HRXVe Rf FUaVeU (FXnding) PLC XS1266139895         100,000             4,791 
NeZ LRRk SecXUed IVVXeU PLC XS1248516616         600,000         113,820 

ConcenWraWion riVk 

E[poVXre 31-Dec-19
%

UniWed SWaWeV                    2 
FUance                    2 
GeUman\                    2 
UniWed KingdRm                  86 
NeWheUlandV                    4 
IUeland                    1 
India                    2 
OWheU                    1 

               100 

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - (CONTINUED)

The CRmSan\ haV defaXlWed aVVeWV aW Whe SeUiRd ended 31 DecembeU 2019 aV fRllRZV:

The aVVeWV liVWed abRYe aUe claVVified aV defaXlWed b\ cUediW UaWing agencieV bXW VWill haYe YalXe aV Whe\ ma\ Sa\ caVh
diVWUibXWiRnV in Whe fXWXUe. 

CRncenWUaWiRn UiVk can aUiVe fURm Whe W\Se Rf inYeVWmenWV held in Whe PRUWfRliR, Whe maWXUiW\ Rf aVVeWV, Whe cRncenWUaWiRn Rf
VRXUceV Rf fXnding, cRncenWUaWiRn Rf cRXnWeUSaUWieV RU geRgUaShical lRcaWiRnV. PUXdenW UiVk managemenW imSlieV mainWaining
Whe e[SRVXUe WR YaUiRXV UiVkV aW a UeaVRnable leYel.

The InYeVWmenW AdYiVRU mRniWRUV Whe e[SRVXUe Rf Whe CRmSan\ WR YaUiRXV UiVkV inclXding CRXnWU\/GeRgUaShical, Single
ObligRU/CRXnWeU-SaUW\, IndXVWU\ caWegRUieV/VegmenWV and aVVeW W\Se. The geRgUaShical lRcaWiRnV fRU Whe InYeVWmenWV aUe VhRZn
in Whe Wable belRZ. 

The PRUWfRliR haV e[SRVXUe acURVV 13 MRRd\¶V indXVWU\ caWegRUieV.

 (i)   The CRmSan\¶V e[SRVXUe WR geRgUaShical lRcaWiRnV iV deWailed belRZ.

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019
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16.
(iii) CrediW riVk - (conWinXed)

E[poVXre 31-Dec-19
%

AXWRmRWiYe                    4 
BankV & FinancialV                  39 
BXVineVV SeUYiceV, ShiSSing & LRgiVWicV                    2 
Cable & TelecRmV                    4 
CRnVXmeU & FRRd                  10 
EneUg\, UWiliWieV & InfUaVWUXcWXUe                  10 
EnWeUWainmenW, Media & BURadcaVWing                    5 
HealWhcaUe                    3 
PURSeUW\                    6 
ReWail                    7 
SeUYiceV                    6 
TechnRlRg\                    1 
TUaYel                    3 

               100 

The CRmSan\¶V aim iV WR manage RSeUaWiRnal UiVk VR aV WR balance limiWing Rf financial lRVVeV and damage WR iWV UeSXWaWiRn
Zhile achieYing iWV inYeVWmenW RbjecWiYe Rf geneUaWing UeWXUnV WR inYeVWRUV.
The SUimaU\ UeVSRnVibiliW\ fRU Whe deYelRSmenW and imSlemenWaWiRn Rf cRnWURlV RYeU RSeUaWiRnal UiVk UeVWV ZiWh Whe BRaUd Rf
DiUecWRUV. The DiUecWRUV¶ aVVeVVmenW RYeU Whe adeTXac\ Rf Whe cRnWURlV and SURceVVeV in Slace aW Whe VeUYice SURYideUV ZiWh
UeVSecW WR RSeUaWiRnal UiVkV iV caUUied RXW Yia UegXlaU bRaUd meeWingV ZiWh Whe AUUangeU and AdminiVWUaWRU. 

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - (CONTINUED)

(iY) OperaWional riVk

OSeUaWiRnal UiVk iV Whe UiVk Rf diUecW RU indiUecW lRVV aUiVing fURm a Zide YaUieW\ Rf caXVeV aVVRciaWed ZiWh Whe SURceVVeV,
WechnRlRg\ and infUaVWUXcWXUe VXSSRUWing Whe CRmSan\¶V RSeUaWiRnV eiWheU inWeUnall\ ZiWhin Whe CRmSan\ RU e[WeUnall\ aW Whe
VeUYice SURYideUV fRU Whe CRmSan\, and fURm e[WeUnal facWRUV RWheU Whan cUediW, maUkeW and liTXidiW\ UiVkV VXch aV WhRVe aUiVing
fURm legal and UegXlaWRU\ UeTXiUemenWV and geneUall\ acceSWed VWandaUdV Rf inYeVWmenW managemenW behaYiRU. OSeUaWiRnal
UiVkV aUiVe fURm all Rf Whe acWiYiWieV Rf Whe CRmSan\.

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019

(ii)   MRRd\¶V indXVWU\ caWegRUieV
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17.

31 December 2019 LeYel 1 LeYel 2 LeYel 3 ToWal
Financial aVVeWV � � � �

- 24,203,418 - 24,203,418

LeYel 1 LeYel 2 LeYel 3 ToWal
Financial liabiliWieV � � � �

- 24,203,418 - 24,203,418

Financial inVWrXmenWV noW meaVXred aW fair YalXe

FaiU YalXe iV Whe SUice WhaW ZRXld be UeceiYed WR Vell an aVVeW RU Said WR WUanVfeU a liabiliW\ in an RUdeUl\ WUanVacWiRn beWZeen
maUkeW SaUWiciSanWV aW Whe meaVXUemenW daWe.

TUade UeceiYableV, WUade Sa\ableV and accUXalV haYe faiU YalXeV WhaW aSSUR[imaWe WR WheiU caUU\ing YalXe becaXVe Rf WheiU VhRUW
WeUm naWXUe WhXV haYe been claVVified aV LeYel 2.

InYeVWmenWV aW FVTPL

NRWeV aW FVTPL

The caVh and caVh eTXiYalenWV haV been claVVified XndeU LeYel 2 cRnVideUing Whe liTXidiW\ Rf Whe maUkeW. 

DXUing Whe SeUiRd ended 31 DecembeU 2019,  nR financial inVWUXmenWV ZeUe WUanVfeUUed beWZeen an\ leYelV.  

LeYel 1: Financial aVVeWV and liabiliWieV aUe meaVXUed XVing TXRWed maUkeW SUiceV (XnadjXVWed) in an acWiYe maUkeW fRU an
idenWical inVWUXmenW;

LeYel 3: ValXaWiRn WechniTXeV XVing VignificanW XnRbVeUYable inSXWV. ThiV caWegRU\ inclXdeV all inVWUXmenWV Zhen Whe
YalXaWiRn WechniTXe inclXdeV inSXWV nRW baVed Rn RbVeUYable daWa and Whe XnRbVeUYable inSXWV cRXld haYe a VignificanW effecW
Rn Whe inVWUXmenW¶V YalXaWiRn. ThiV caWegRU\ inclXdeV inVWUXmenWV WhaW aUe YalXed baVed Rn TXRWed SUiceV fRU VimilaU
inVWUXmenWV ZheUe VignificanW XnRbVeUYable adjXVWmenWV RU aVVXmSWiRnV aUe UeTXiUed WR UeflecW diffeUenceV beWZeen Whe
inVWUXmenWV.

The Wable belRZ anal\VeV Whe financial inVWUXmenWV meaVXUed aW faiU YalXe aV aW financial SeUiRd end in Whe faiU YalXe hieUaUch\
inWR Zhich Whe faiU YalXe meaVXUemenW iV caWegRUiVed:

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION

IFRS 13 defineV a faiU YalXe hieUaUch\ WhaW caWegRUiVeV inWR WhUee leYelV Whe inSXWV WR YalXaWiRn WechniTXeV XVed WR meaVXUe faiU
YalXe. The faiU YalXe hieUaUch\ giYeV Whe higheVW SUiRUiW\ WR TXRWed SUiceV (XnadjXVWed) in acWiYe maUkeWV fRU idenWical aVVeWV RU 

LeYel 2: Financial aVVeWV and liabiliWieV aUe meaVXUed XVing YalXaWiRn WechniTXeV Zhich XVe RbVeUYable maUkeW daWa, eiWheU
diUecWl\ (i.e. aV SUiceV) RU indiUecWl\ (i.e. deUiYed fURm SUiceV).
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18.

See nRWe 14 fRU DiUecWRUV' feeV amRXnWing in WRWal WR �4,720.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

TranVacWionV ZiWh oWher ke\ conWracWV

(D) 7UDQVDFWLRQV ZLWK IQ EQ CRUSRUDWH 6HUYLFHV (IUHODQG) LLPLWHG (WKH ³AGPLQLVWUDWRU´)

The CRmSan\ engageV Whe AdminiVWUaWRU fRU all managemenW and adminiVWUaWiRn fXncWiRnV WR manage Whe RSeUaWiRnal UiVk Rf
diUecW RU indiUecW lRVV aUiVing fURm a Zide YaUieW\ Rf caXVeV aVVRciaWed ZiWh Whe CRmSan\¶V SURceVVeV, and fURm e[WeUnal
facWRUV RWheU Whan cUediW, maUkeW and liTXidiW\ UiVkV VXch aV WhRVe aUiVing fURm legal and UegXlaWRU\ UeTXiUemenWV and geneUall\
acceSWed VWandaUdV Rf cRUSRUaWe behaYiRXU. The AdminiVWUaWRU iV enWiWled WR UeceiYe adminiVWUaWiYe feeV fRU Whe VeUYiceV iW
SURYideV SeU Whe WeUmV and cRndiWiRnV Rf Whe AgUeemenW.

DXUing Whe financial SeUiRd, Whe CRmSan\ incXUUed a fee Rf �16,948 UelaWing WR adminiVWUaWiRn VeUYiceV SURYided b\ Whe
AdminiVWUaWRU, and �16,948 ZaV dXe aV aW Whe SeUiRd end.

(E) 7UDQVDFWLRQV ZLWK IQ EQ (IVOH RI MDQ) LLPLWHG (WKH ³FLVFDO AJHQW´)

The CRmSan\ engageV Whe FiVcal AgenW fRU all Whe dXWieV aV RXWlined in Whe AdminiVWUaWiRn AgUeemenW ("AgUeemenW"). The
FiVcal AgenW iV enWiWled WR UeceiYe feeV fRU Whe VeUYiceV iW SURYideV SeU Whe WeUmV and cRndiWiRnV Rf Whe AgUeemenW. DXUing Whe
financial SeUiRd, Whe CRmSan\ incXUUed a fee Rf �750 fRU Whe VeUYiceV SURYided b\ Whe FiVcal AgenW fRU Whe financial SeUiRd, Rf
Zhich �750 ZaV dXe aV aW 31 DecembeU 2019.

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019

TranVacWionV ZiWh Ke\ ManagemenW PerVonnel

The BRaUd iV cRnVideUed WR be Whe Ke\ ManagemenW PeUVRnnel Rf Whe CRmSan\ fRU Whe SeUiRd ended 31 DecembeU 2019.
AlWhRXgh Whe InYeVWmenW AdYiVRU and Whe CRmSan\ haV enWeUed inWR an inYeVWmenW adYiVRU\ agUeemenW, Whe BRaUd iV VWill
cRnVideUed WR haYe aXWhRUiW\ and UeVSRnVibiliW\ fRU Slanning and diUecWing acWiYiWieV Rf Whe CRmSan\ being Whe SXUchaVe and
Vale Rf Whe PRUWfRliR.

DXUing Whe financial SeUiRd, S\ad Re]aah Ahmad, ZhR iV a DiUecWRU Rf Whe CRmSan\, iV alVR a diUecWRU Rf Whe NRWehRldeU and
AUUangeU. AV aW 31 DecembeU 2019, Whe CRmSan\ RZed an amRXnW Rf �10,233, WR Whe AUUangeU in UelaWiRn WR Whe aUUangeU feeV.

TranVacWionV ZiWh relaWed parWieV

(a) WiVeAlSha TechnRlRgieV LimiWed acW aV InYeVWmenW AdYiVRU and AUUangeU. AUUangeU feeV eaUned b\ Whe AUUangeU amRXnWed
WR �10,233, Whe enWiUe amRXnW Rf Zhich ZaV RXWVWanding aW Whe financial SeUiRd end. In addiWiRn WR WhiV, Whe AUUangeU
UeimbXUVeV Whe CRmSan\ fRU all e[SenVeV incXUUed. DXUing Whe financial SeUiRd, Whe UeimbXUVemenW incRme ZaV �71,277, and
Whe enWiUe amRXnW ZaV UeceiYable aV aW 31 DecembeU 2019.

(b) WiVeAlSha InYeVWmenW LimiWed (BVI) (Whe ³NRWehRldeU´) hRldV �4,287,778 (18%) Rf Whe fUacWiRnal bRndV iVVXed b\ Whe
CRmSan\.

(c) The CRmSan\ alVR acTXiUed inYeVWmenWV and nRWeV fURm WiVeAlSha LimiWed dXUing Whe financial SeUiRd. The amRXnW Rf
inYeVWmenWV and nRWeV acTXiUed ZaV �21,225,049, in a nRn-caVh WUanVacWiRn. The inYeVWmenWV and nRWeV ZeUe acTXiUed XndeU
Whe WeUmV Rf Whe Deed Rf SXbVWiWXWiRn.
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19.

20.

21.
e

22.

23.

The financial VWaWemenWV ZeUe aSSURYed and aXWhRUiVed fRU iVVXe b\ Whe BRaUd Rf DiUecWRUV Rn 26 Ma\ 2020.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

TheUe haYe been nR RWheU VignificanW eYenWV VXbVeTXenW WR Whe SeUiRd end WhaW UeTXiUe adjXVWmenW WR RU diVclRVXUe in WheVe
financial VWaWemenWV XS WR Whe daWe Rf Vigning WheVe financial VWaWemenWV. 

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The CRmSan\ had nR cRmmiWmenWV and cRnWingenW liabiliWieV aW 31 DecembeU 2019.

CHARGES

The NRWeV aUe VecXUed in faYRXU Rf Whe TUXVWee fRU Whe benefiW Rf Whe nRWehRldeUV b\ VecXUiW\ RYeU Whe InYeVWmenWV Rf Whe
CRmSan\. The NRWeV aUe limiWed UecRXUVe in naWXUe and aUe VecXUed RYeU Whe InYeVWmenWV Rf Whe CRmSan\.

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 22 MAY 2019 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) TO 31 DECEMBER 2019

In Whe UecenW deYelRSmenWV dXe WR CRYid-19, Whe InYeVWmenWV Rf Whe CRmSan\ declined in WheiU maUkeW YalXe SRVW \eaU end.
An\ change in Whe YalXe Rf Whe InYeVWmenWV iV diUecWl\ UeflecWed in Whe YalXe Rf Whe NRWeV, aV Whe CRmSan\'V NRWeV deUiYe WheiU
incRme and YalXe diUecWl\ fURm Whe InYeVWmenWV held b\ Whe CRmSan\, WheUefRUe limiWing Whe financial imSacW Rn Whe CRmSan\
dXe WR SUice flXcWXaWiRnV.

CONTROLLING PARTY
The CRmSan\ haV Rne VhaUehRldeU, IQEQ NRmineeV (IUeland) LimiWed. All VhaUeV aUe held XndeU Whe WeUmV Rf declaUaWiRnV Rf
WUXVW, XndeU Zhich Whe UeleYanW VhaUe WUXVWee hRldV Whe iVVXed VhaUeV Rf Whe CRmSan\ in WUXVW fRU a chaUiW\. 

The InYeVWmenW AdYiVRU and AUUangeU Zill cRnWinXe WR mRniWRU Whe XndeUl\ing SRUWfRliRV and WUading acWiYiW\ Rf iWV
inYeVWmenWV WR enVXUe WhaW manageUV aUe UedXcing UiVk aSSURSUiaWel\. The RXWbUeak cRXld UeVXlW in changeV RU incUeaVed
YRlaWiliW\ in caSiWal maUkeWV acWiYiW\, lRZeU aVVeW SUice leYelV, diVUXSWiRnV in geneUal ecRnRmic acWiYiW\, RU in financial maUkeW
VeWWlemenW fXncWiRnV, Zhich cRXld negaWiYel\ imSacW Whe CRmSan\; hRZeYeU, Whe SRWenWial imSacW Rf WhiV iV highl\ XnceUWain
and iV nRW SRVVible fRU Whe CRmSan\ WR TXanWif\ aW WhiV Wime.

The BRaUd Rf DiUecWRUV aUe UeVSRnVible fRU Whe da\-WR-da\ managemenW and adminiVWUaWiRn Rf Whe CRmSan\.
The BRaUd iV cRmSRVed Rf WhUee diUecWRUV, WZR Rf Whe DiUecWRUV aUe indeSendenW nRn e[ecXWiYe DiUecWRUV, ZheUeaV Rne Rf Whe 
DiUecWRU, iV alVR a DiUecWRU Rf Whe NRWehRldeU and AUUangeU aV menWiRned in nRWe 18. 

The DiUecWRUV aUe Rf Whe YieZ WhaW baVed Rn Whe infRUmaWiRn aYailable WR Whem WhaW WheUe iV nR Vingle enWiW\ WhaW haV
RYeUall cRnWURl Rf Whe CRmSan\ aV defined XndeU IFRS 10.
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